
West Devon Hub 
Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Tuesday, 11th September, 2018

Time: 2.00 pm

Venue: Chamber - Kilworthy Park

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Sanders
Vice Chairman Cllr Samuel

Members: Cllr Edmonds
Cllr Jory
Cllr Oxborough
Cllr Sampson

Cllr Mott
Cllr Leech
Cllr Roberts

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Member.Services@swdevon.gov.uk



Page No

1.  Apologies for absence 

2.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such 
interests they may have in any items to be considered at this 
meeting.

If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination, 
bias or interests in items on this Agenda, then please contact the 
Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.

3.  Items Requiring Urgent Attention

To consider those items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should be considered by the Meeting as matters of urgency (if 
any)

4.  Confirmation of Minutes 1 - 4

Minutes of meeting held 17 July 2018.

5.  Public Questions

a period of up to 15 minutes is available to deal with issues
raised by the public.

6.  Financial Strategy Review Working Group - Cllr Jory

Verbal Update

7.  Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24 - 
Cllr Sanders 

5 - 64

8.  Commercial Property Strategy Amendment - Cllr Jory 65 - 100

9.  Quarter 1 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/2019 - Cllr 
Edmonds 

101 - 110

10.  Write Off Report - Cllr Edmonds 111 - 118

11.  Council Tax Reduction Scheme - Cllr Leech 119 - 130

12.  Civic Penalties for breaches of Housing Standards 
Enforcement Notices - Cllr Leech 

131 - 148



Page No

13.  Tamar Valley AONB Management Plan 2019-2024 
Consultation Draft - Cllr Jory 

149 - 152

14.  Exclusion of Public and Press

to consider the following resolution to exclude the public and 
press:-

“That in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following items of business in 
order to avoid the likely disclosure to them of exempt information 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act”;

15.  IT Systems Procurement - Cllr Edmonds 153 - 160





At a Meeting  of the HUB COMMITTEE  held at the Council  Chamber, 
Council Offices, Kilworthy Park, Drake Road, TAVISTOCK on TUESDAY 
the 17th day of JULY, 2018 at 2.00pm

Present:                             Cllr P R Sanders – Chairman
  Cllr L Samuel – Vice Chairman

 
Cllr C Edmonds  Cllr N Jory
Cllr A F Leech Cllr R Oxborough
Cllr A Roberts  Cllr R F D Sampson 

In attendance:       Group Manager Customer First and Support Services
Section 151 Officer
Group Manager Commercial Services
Commissioning Manager Waste
COP Lead Housing, Revenues and Benefits
Specialist Housing
Operational Manager Environment Services
Specialist Democratic Services

Other Members in attendance:
Cllrs Cann OBE, Cheadle, Evans, Moyse, Musgrave, 
Pearce and Yelland

*HC 10 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Mott.

*HC 11 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members were invited to declare any interests in the items of business to be 
discussed and the following were made:

Cllr Jory abstained from the vote on Agenda Item 3: Items requiring Urgent 
Attention:  Future Partnership Funding (Minute HC 12 below refers), as there 
was a reference made during the debate to Business Information Point and 
he had previously declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in relation to this 
organisation.  Whilst the recommendation did not directly relate to the 
funding of BIP, Cllr Jory remained in the meeting and abstained from the 
vote on this agenda item.

 HC 12 ITEMS REQUIRING URGENT ATTENTION
The Chairman advised that he had agreed for one item of urgent business to 
be presented, being a report on Partnership funding.  The report was 
deemed urgent as partners had been advised that they would be made 
aware of their future funding following the Council meeting on 24 July 2018.

The Deputy Leader presented the report and asked that the Chairman of 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee also take part in the discussion on this 
item.  A similar report had been presented to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, setting out the recommendations of the Partnerships Task and 
Finish Group (Minute O&S 12(a) refers).  However, those recommendations 
were not fully accepted by the Committee.  The Deputy Leader expressed 
her views, and with the Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Committee went 
on to respond to questions.



During discussion, a Member proposed a revised recommendation, and this 
was seconded. Whilst accepting that a five year settlement would help 
partner organisations with financial planning, Members generally felt that it 
would not be appropriate for the Borough Council to be allocating funding 
amounts beyond 2019/20, particularly before the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy had been finalised.  It was noted that this view had been shared by 
a majority of Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members.  Members also felt 
that those partnerships that had been defined during the review as either 
‘key’ or ‘statutory’ should not be included, as the basis for their funding from 
the Borough Council was quite different to the discretionary partnerships.

It was then RESOLVED that the Hub Committee RECOMMEND to Council 
that future partnership funding be set for 2019/20 only in line with the 
proposals outlined in the table at paragraph 3.1 below, with the exception of 
the four key partnerships being removed from the table as they should be 
considered separately to establish terms of reference, benefits arising and 
whether their funding should be allocated to a different funding stream (NB. 
These four partnerships being: Heart of the South West Local Enterprise 
Partnership, Tamar Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Tamar 
Estuaries Consultative Forum and World Heritage Site).

*HC 13         MINUTES
The Minutes of the Hub Committee meeting held on 24 April 2018 were 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 *HC 14          WASTE PROCUREMENT – VERBAL UPDATE
(Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)

The Lead Member for Commercial Services provided an exempt update to 
Members on the progress of the Waste Procurement project.  A report would 
be presented to the full Council meeting next Tuesday, 24 July, 2018.

*HC 15           FINANCIAL STABILITY REVIEW GROUP UPDATE
(Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)

In accordance with the Council decision at its meeting on 27 March 2018 
(Minute CM 73 refers) for updates to be included as a standing agenda item,  
the Lead Member for Assets and Environment presented Members with an 
exempt briefing note that updated the recent work of the Financial Stability 
Review Group.

 *HC 16          MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL POSITION 2019/20
Members were presented with a report that set out the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Position over a rolling five year timeframe to 2023/24.  This 
report represented a snapshot position statement, and future Member 
decisions on the budget strategy would inform figures within the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy to be presented to the Hub Committee on 11 
September 2018.

The Leader presented the report.



It was then RESOLVED that the Hub Committee:

1. notes the forecast budget gap for 2019/20 of £0.7 million and the 
position for future years;

2. notes the current options identified and timescales for closing the 
budget gap in 2019/20 and future years, to achieve long term financial 
sustainability; and

3. agrees to maintaining the current Council policy on the minimum level 
of unearmarked reserves being £750,000.

 HC 17          BUSINESS RATES – LOCALLY ADMINISTERED BUSINESS RATE 
RELIEF POLICY
Members were presented with a report that asked that they consider and 
recommend the policy to administer Year 2 of the four year funding 
agreement awarded by central Government, to support those who had seen 
an increase in their rates bill due to the 2017 revaluation exercise.

The Lead Member for Economy presented the report, and advised Members 
that the Council had been one of the first to publish their policy, which had 
successfully seen all funds distributed.  Members noted their appreciation for 
the hard work of the officer who was responsible for the policy.

It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED to adopt the Year 
2 Locally Administered Business Rate Relief Policy.

*HC 18          HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY ACTION PLAN 18/19
Members were presented with a report that set out a proposed 
Homelessness Strategy Action Plan for 2018/19, following completion of the 
review of the 2017/18 Action plan.  Widespread consultation with partner 
organisations on the proposed action plan had been completed in April 2018 
with 100% of respondents either agreeing or strongly agreeing with the 
proposed actions.

The Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing presented the report. Members 
praised the proactive nature of the Action Plan.

It was then RESOLVED that the Homelessness Strategy Action Plan 
2018/19 be adopted with immediate effect.

*HC 19         PUBLIC TOILET REVIEW
Members were presented with a report that asked Members to consider 
options for saving the £50,000 previously approved as part of the budget for 
2019/20.

The Lead Member for Commercial Services presented the report. He 
confirmed that the report was not deciding on closures, but was about giving 
officers instruction on how to proceed.  The published recommendation gave 
a number of options for consideration, and in introducing the report he 
proposed a revised recommendation that more clearly set out the purpose of 
the report.  



During discussion, a number of Members had suggestions on ways to 
prevent public toilets being closed, such as sharing the responsibility with 
Town and Parish Councils.  Members were concerned at the financial impact 
on Parish Councils of taking on the toilets, and the health and wellbeing 
implications of closing public toilets.  The Lead Member concluded the item 
by thanking Members for their comments and stated that a range of options 
that were tailored to the needs of different communities was likely.

It was then RESOLVED: 

1. To approve, and deliver efficiencies of £50,000 (or more) in 2019/20 from 
the overall public convenience service as set out in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy through consideration of the following:

 the provision of pay on entry systems (where pay back can be 
achieved on a capital spend within a reasonable period, 
depending on the choice of equipment)

 closure of toilet facilities where adequate provision may be found 
within reasonable proximity or where footfall is not such as to 
justify continued provision

 the transfer of toilet facilities to parishes or other partners where 
agreement can be reached to maintain service continuity 

 
2. It is recommended that officers proceed on the basis of consideration of a 

combination of all the above options in order to achieve this, subject to 
seeking the authority of this Council to any closure(s) to be considered.

*HC 20          WRITE OFF REPORT
The Lead Member for Resources and Performance introduced a report that 
informed Members of the debt written off for revenue streams within the 
Revenue and Benefits service.  Debts up to the value of £5,000 were written 
off by the s151 Officer under delegated authority.  Permission was sought to 
write off individual debts with a value of more than £5,000. 

It was then RESOLVED that:

1. in accordance with Financial Regulations, that the s151 Officer 
had authorised the write-off of individual West Devon Borough 
Council debts totalling £114,989.98 as detailed in Tables 1 and 2 
be noted; and

2. the write off of individual debts in excess of £5,000 totalling 
£46,248.19, as detailed in Table 3 of the presented report, be 
approved.

(The meeting terminated at 3.50pm)

_____________
Chairman

(NOTE: THESE DECISIONS, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF 
HC 12 AND HC17 WHICH ARE RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE 
COUNCIL MEETING TO BE HELD ON 24 JULY 2018, 
WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM WEDNESDAY  
25 JULY 2018 UNLESS CALLED IN, IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULE 18).



NOT FOR PUBLICATION

Appendix G to this report is considered exempt under paragraph 3 of 
schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 in that it concerns the 

financial or business affairs of the Council.

Report to: Hub Committee

Date: 11 September 2018

Title: Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 
to 2023/24

Portfolio Area: Cllr P R Sanders - Budget Setting Process

Wards Affected: All

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Author: Lisa Buckle Role: Group Manager for 
Strategic Finance
(S151 Officer)

Contact: Tel. 01803 861413
Email: lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  
It is recommended that the Hub Committee:

(i) Notes the forecast budget gap for 2019/20 of £0.45 
million and the position for future years;

(ii) Notes the current options identified and timescales for 
closing the budget gap in 2019/20 and future years, to 
achieve long term financial sustainability; and

(iii) RECOMMENDS to Council to approve Recommendations 
1 to 10 as set out within the body of this report.

mailto:lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk


1. Executive summary 
1.1     The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is based on a

financial forecast over a rolling five year timeframe to 2023/24. The 
Council, along with other local authorities, has faced unprecedented 
reductions in Government funding since the Comprehensive Spending 
Review 2010. 

1.2 Between 2009/10 and 2019/20, the Council’s Core Government 
funding has reduced by £3 million.

1.3 West Devon has continued to work in partnership with South Hams 
District Council which has allowed West Devon Borough Council to 
achieve annual savings of £2.2 million and more importantly protect all 
statutory front line services. 

1.4 Between both Councils the annual shared services savings being 
achieved are over £6 million. However, the Councils continue to face 
considerable financial challenges as a result of uncertainty in the wider 
economy and constraints on public sector spending.

1.5 West Devon Borough Council is currently forecasting a £0.45m budget 
gap in 2019/20. This is lower than the £0.7m budget gap for 2019/20 
predicted in July 2018, due to the Government announcing in a 
technical consultation that its preference is to eliminate negative 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) for 2019/20.  The MTFS (September 
18) assumes that negative RSG will be reduced to zero in 2019/20 - 
which improves the Council’s budget position by £0.3m for 2019/20. It 
is assumed that negative RSG remains in some form (e.g. as part of 
the business rates baseline reset) from 2020/21 onwards.

1.6 There is a further budget gap of £0.56 million in 2020/21. Therefore 
over the next two years the Council needs to close a budget gap of    
£1 million (£0.45m in 19/20 and a further £0.56m by 20/21).

1.7 It is important to note that this Medium Term Financial Strategy sets out 
the budget strategy for the Council for the next five years, with annual 
reviews and updates when items are further known or are announced 
by the Government (e.g. the Provisional Finance Settlement will be 
announced by the Government in December 2018).

1.8    This is the starting point for developing a meaningful five year strategy 
that sets out the strategic intention for all of the different strands of 
funding available to the Council. The Council will then be able to rely on 
this to inform future decisions. 

1.9 A Cross Party Member Working Group (Financial Stability Review 
Group) was set up in November 2017 with defined Terms of Reference 
to look at the Medium Term Financial Strategy and to further look at 
options for securing financial stability for the longer term. The Group 
regularly reports to the Hub Committee.



2 THE FOUR YEAR SETTLEMENT FUNDING OFFER 
2.1 During 2016/17 the Government offered Local Authorities the 

opportunity to apply for a four year agreed funding settlement, subject 
to the production of an efficiency plan. The Council applied and was 
accepted for the four year agreement. From 2018/19 onwards, the 
Council has received no Government funding (Revenue Support Grant, 
RSG) and the Council will need to be self-sufficient. 

2.2 Although the four year settlement offered no Revenue Support Grant, it 
did guarantee the Council its allocations of Rural Services Delivery 
Grant over the four year period, which equates to £0.37m in 2019/20.

2.3 District Councils such as West Devon have also suffered a large 
reduction in their New Homes Bonus funding (£0.5 million in 17/18) due 
to the number of years payments being reduced from six years to five 
years in 17/18 and four years from 18/19 onwards. The funding being 
released is to contribute towards adult social care costs, a function 
carried out by Unitary and County Councils. Between 2009/10 and 
2019/20 the Council’s Core Government funding will have reduced by 
£3 million annually. 

3  ASSUMPTIONS FOR FINANCIAL MODELLING PURPOSES
3.1 The National Employers made a final pay offer covering 1 April 2018 to 

31 March 2020. The majority of employees (those on salaries starting 
at £19,430 p.a.) have received an uplift of 2% on 1/4/18 and a further 
2% on 1/4/19, with those on lower salaries receiving higher increases. 
The cost of this was £85,000 in 2018/19 and a further £95,000 in 
2019/20. This has been reflected in Appendix A. The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy is not an expression of Council Policy on pay 
awards, but a means of ensuring an appropriate provision is made as 
part of the overall financial planning of the Council.

3.2 This report assumes inflation will run at 2% over the five year period. 
The Consumer Prices Index (CPI) was 2.5% in July 2018.

3.3 The predicted interest rate forecast from our treasury management 
advisors, Link Services, is that interest rates will remain at 0.75% up to 
September 2019. By December 2020 the bank base rate is predicted to 
increase to 1.5%. 

3.4   An increase in council tax of 2.99% for the next five years has been 
modelled for council tax purposes. This would equate to a Band D 
council tax for West Devon of £231.63 in 2019/20 as shown in 
Appendix B.

3.5 It has been assumed that the number of properties within the Borough 
will increase by 160 per annum from 2019/20 onwards – this is an 
increase of approx. 0.8% - the Council had 20,117.85 Band D 
equivalent properties in 2018/19. 



4. THE COMPONENTS MAKING UP A MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 
STRATEGY (MTFS)

4.1 The Diagram below sets out all of the component parts which 
constitute the make-up of a Medium Term Financial Strategy. Appendix 
C goes through each of these components in detail and makes 
recommendations where appropriate. The recommendations are 
summarised below. 

Items in Green denote those elements where the Council has a large 
degree of control over the setting of policies and strategies. Items in 
Amber denote those components of the MTFS where the Council has a 
degree of control. Red items signal components where the Council has 
hardly any control over funding allocations which are decided by the 
Government and future cost pressures which can largely be outside of 
the Council’s control or influence.

     Net Budget £7.3 million
     

Council Tax
4.2 Recommendation 1: To set the strategic intention to raise council tax 

by the maximum allowed in any given year, without triggering a council 
tax referendum, to enable continued delivery of services. The actual 
council tax for any given year will be decided by Council in the 
preceding February.

Business Rates
4.3 The income from Business Rates which West Devon Borough Council 

retained in 2017-18 was the funding baseline of £1,538,973 plus the 
pooling gain of £82,000.



Business Rates Pilot for 2019-20
4.4     Modelling which has been carried out on the application for 19/20 Pilot 

status shows that West Devon could gain approximately £250,000 of 
the £10 million projected 19/20 Devon Pilot gain. This is approximately 
half of the 18/19 predicted WDBC gain of £460,000. This additional 
funding of £250,000 would be a one-off amount for 2019/20 only.

4.5 Recommendation 2: To submit an application for Pilot status for 
2019/20 and to agree a 40% District/34% Devon County Council/1% 
Fire split for the 75% scheme, with the agreement to remain part of the 
Devon Business Rates Pool for 2019/20 if the Pilot bid is not 
successful.

Recommendation 3: To actively lobby Central Government and Devon 
MPs to support a 2019/20 Devon Pilot bid

Recommendation 4: To actively lobby and engage with the 
Government, Devon MPs and other sector bodies such as the District 
Councils Network and the Rural Services Network, for a realistic 
business rates baseline to be set for the Council for 2020 onwards.

Negative Revenue Support Grant

4.6 The negative RSG currently included within the Council’s funding 
allocation for 2019/20 amounts to £293,377. If the Government 
eliminates this, as an outcome of the consultation process, the 
Council’s budget position is bettered by £300K for 2019/20 – this 
betterment is already included within the modelling in Appendix B. The 
Council is hopeful the Government will reverse it, as this is the 
Government’s preferred option in the consultation. 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy assumes that negative RSG will 
be reduced to zero in 2019/20 and this reduced funding pressure has 
been built into the latest modelling set out in this report. If the position 
changes, the MTFS will be updated to reflect this. It is assumed that 
negative RSG remains in some form (e.g. as part of the business rates 
baseline reset) from 2020/21 onwards.

Recommendation 5: That WDBC responds to the technical consultation 
in support of the Government eliminating Negative Revenue Support 
Grant and continues to lobby for Rural Services Delivery Grant 
allocations which adequately reflect the cost of rural service provision.



New Homes Bonus

4.7 The Government released a consultation in July which stated their 
intention to increase the 0.4% baseline. They have also stated that 
2019-20 represents the final year of NHB funding and from 2020 
onwards they will explore how to incentivise housing growth most 
effectively and will consult on this issue. 

Recommendation 6: To use £375,000 of New Homes Bonus funding 
for 2019-20 to fund the revenue base budget and then reduce to 
£100,000 by 2020-21 and £50,000 by 2021-22 for modelling purposes.

Reserves Policy

4.8 Current Levels of Reserves: £1.2 million Unearmarked Reserves and 
Earmarked Reserves of £4 million. The Council’s Net Budget is £7.3 
million for 2018/19. Therefore Unearmarked Reserves equate to 16% 
of the Council’s Net Budget.

Recommendation 7: That the annual level of contribution to Earmarked 
Reserves (£50,000) and the adequacy of the existing level of 
Unearmarked Reserves (£1.2 million) and Earmarked Reserves (£4 
million) is delegated to the Cross Party Member Working Group 
(Financial Stability Review Group - FSRG) to review and make 
recommendations by the end of October. This will assess the 
adequacy of Reserves levels in light of future plans and pressures.

Pensions Strategy

4.9 Recommendation 8 - That the Council takes specialist pension advice 
on the options for the Council’s Pension position, with the aim of 
reducing the current contributions, increasing affordability, whilst best 
managing the pension deficit. It is also recommended that the Council 
has early dialogue with DCC and the actuaries with regards to the 
Council having an input into the actuarial assumptions used for the 
2019 Actuarial Valuation. Options will be taken back to the Council’s 
Audit Committee on 22nd January to consider.

Treasury Management and Borrowing Strategy

4.10 The Council has taken external treasury management advice on the 
Council’s overall borrowing levels and debt levels and this advice is 
attached in Exempt Appendix G. Their recommendation is that the 
Council limits its overall borrowing envelope for its whole operations 
and services to £50 million. This advice is based on a range of 
benchmarking of indices that they have undertaken. Borrowing needs 
to be proportionate and affordable and with always having regard to the 
risks involved in the repayment of the debt.



Recommendation 9 – That the Council sets an Upper Limit on External 
Borrowing (for all Council services) as part of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy of £50 million as per Exempt Appendix G. Sensitivity 
analysis is shown in Appendix F.

Future Cost Pressures

4.11 Recommendation 10: To continue with the Local Government terms 
and conditions of employment Green Book for at least 2019/20. To 
review all options for reducing staff costs by varying terms from the 
Green Book from 2020/21, with an initial report back by the end of 
2018/2019.

Income Generation/Savings and Fees and Charges

4.12 The Council’s Extended Leadership Team will present further budget 
options to Members for income generation/savings/reduced 
expenditure, as part of the Budget Setting Workshop being planned for 
Monday 8th October.

Procurement

4.13 The Council is currently procuring its waste collection, recycling and 
cleansing services through a competitive dialogue process. The latest 
report was to Council on 24th July. Council Minute CM25 refers. The 
procurement process will now continue to the ‘Final Solutions’ stage, 
with a further final report being brought to the Council meeting of 4th 
December 2018. Any financial implications of this are not included in 
the Modelling in Appendices A and B.

Partnership Funding/Grants

4.14 Following reports to both the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (26th 
June) and the Hub Committee, it has been approved by Council 
(Minute CM24 – Council 24th July 2018) to reduce funding to 
Partnerships by £14,000 for 2019/20.

Review of Assets

4.15 The Council’s Asset Base is £22.3 million at 31 March 2018. The 
Council will continually review and challenge its asset base in order to 
deliver the optimum value for money from the Council’s Assets.



5 BUDGET PRESSURES, SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION  
5.1 Financial modelling has been undertaken for the next five years to 

predict the Council’s financial situation for the short and medium term.

5.2 Appendix A to the Medium Term Financial Position sets out the 
Budget Pressures forecast for the next five years and the additional 
savings and income forecast. These figures in Appendix A show the 
changes to the existing base budget. 

(As set out 
in Appendix 
A)

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Cost 
Pressures

£470,000 £415,000 £260,000 £260,000 £335,000

Contributions 
to 
Earmarked 
Reserves

£50,000 £50,000 £50,000 £50,000 £50,000

Savings and 
additional 
income 

£(231,500) £(249,000) £(198,000) £(390,000) Nil

6. OVERALL POSITION – BUDGET GAP
6.1 Appendix B illustrates the overall financial forecast for the forthcoming 

five years. The Council’s Net Budget is £7.3 million in 2018/19. A 
Summary forecast is shown below of the potential budget situation if all 
of the budget pressures and the savings and income generation in 
Appendix A were approved. It also shows the situation if the Council 
Tax is increased by 2.99% (shown in Appendix B).

6.2 The following table illustrates the predicted budget gap from 2019/20
onwards for the Council as shown in Appendix B:

Cumulative 
Budget Gap

2019/20
£

2020/21
£

2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

Total 
Aggregated 
Budget Gap
£

Modelling 
Appendix B
(assumes 
–ve RSG is
Zero in
2019/20)

453,332 1,012,847 999,816 638,144 724,313 3,828,452

6.3 In the Modelling in Appendix B, the total budget gap is £453,332 in 
2019/20 and this is predicted to rise to £1,012,847 in 2020/21 (the 
£1,012,847 assumes the budget gap in 19/20 of £453,332 has not 
been closed). The aggregated Budget Gap is £3.8 million.



7 FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY AND TIMESCALES
7.1 The Council is progressing various options for closing the budget gap 

in 2019/20 and future years, to achieve long term financial 
sustainability.  The table below sets out a timescale for those options 
and the various strands that the Council is exploring.

Option Possible
Budget 
Impact

Timescale

Public Conveniences
A budget saving of £50,000 in 2019/20 
has been included within the total 
budget savings modelled. 

£50,000 Report to the 
Hub 
Committee in 
October 2018

Pensions Strategy
It is recommended for the Council to 
obtain specialist pensions advice on its 
Pensions position. Options to be 
reported to the January Audit 
Committee.

To be 
quantified
(could be 
up to 
£100,000)

Report to the 
Audit 
Committee 
22nd January 
2018

Waste Procurement 
The Council is currently in a waste 
procurement process through 
competitive dialogue. The procurement 
process will now continue to the ‘Final 
Solutions’ stage, with a further final 
report being brought to the Council 
meeting of 4th December 2018. Any 
financial implications of this are not 
included in the Modelling in Appendix B.

To be 
quantified

Council 
meeting 
4th December 
2018

Council Tax Reduction Scheme
The grant to Town and Parish Councils 
has been reduced by 8.6% over the four 
year period of the finance settlement. 
Members have an option over whether 
to withdraw funding in 2020/21.

£59,000 
for 
2020/21 
onwards

Hub 
Committee 
November 
2018.

Asset Review
On 5th June 2018, the Hub Committee 
considered a report on Council Owned 
Asset Investment and Development 
opportunities. The Council will prepare 
detailed business cases on the 
opportunities in the report and report 
back to Members.

To be 
quantified

Within three 
months



Option Possible
Budget 
Impact

Timescale

Savings identified by the Extended 
Leadership Team (ELT)
The ELT held a Budget session on 15th 
August and have identified options to 
present to Members at the Members’ 
Budget Workshop being arranged for 8th 
October

To be 
quantified

Members’ 
Budget 
Workshop 
being 
arranged for 
8th October

Funding Options

Negative Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG)
The Council is hopeful the Government 
will reverse negative RSG in 19-20, as 
this is the Government’s preferred 
option in the consultation. The Medium 
Term Financial Strategy assumes that 
negative RSG will be reduced to zero in 
19-20.

The 
Medium 
Term 
Financial 
Strategy 
assumes 
that 
negative 
RSG will 
be reduced 
to zero in 
19-20

Anticipated to 
be known by 
December 
2018 when 
the Draft 
Local 
Government 
Finance 
Settlement is 
published.

Business Rates Pilot status for 
2019/20
If the Devon Business Rates Pilot were 
to be successful for 2019/20, this could 
give further one-off extra business rates 
income in 19/20. Based on a 75% 
growth retention scheme, this could 
yield up to £250,000.

£250,000 
in 2019/20
(one-off 
funding)

December 
2018 when 
the Draft 
Local 
Government 
Finance 
Settlement is 
published.

New Homes Bonus allocations for 
2019/20

The NHB allocation for 2019/20 is 
anticipated to be around £434,000, of 
which £375,000 is currently projected to 
be used to fund the Revenue Base 
Budget. The Council could chose to use 
a higher amount to fund the Revenue 
Base Budget but this would leave little 
funding available for the Capital 
Programme.

Potentially 
up to 
£59,000

NHB 
allocations will 
be announced 
around 
December 
2018. 
Decisions 
around its use 
will be made 
as part of the 
Budget 
Process.



Option Possible
Budget 
Impact

Timescale

Contributions to Earmarked Reserves
The Council could decide not to 
contribute £25K per annum into an 
Earmarked Reserve for IT Development 
and an Earmarked Reserve for Planning 
(e.g. to fund any appeal costs). 

Up to £50K To be decided 
as part of the 
Budget 
Process

Use of Reserves as a temporary 
measure
The Council will have £316,484 in a 
Future Financial Stability Earmarked 
Reserve (this was from the 18/19 
projected pilot gain) and there is 
£439,000 uncommitted in the Invest to 
Earn Earmarked Reserve and £234,000 
uncommitted in the Budget Surplus 
Contingency Earmarked Reserve. The 
Council could temporarily utilise 
Reserves to balance an element of the 
2019/20 budget, whilst longer term 
solutions are being implemented. This 
would be a very short term solution 
though.

To be 
assessed

To be decided 
as part of the 
Budget 
Process

7.2 The diagram below shows the Government timetable of key dates.
The key dates will be in May 2019 when more details will be known 
about the Funding Reform and Spending Review 2019. In November 
2019, the baseline funding for business rates and the impact of 
transitional arrangements will be known.



8 CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND PRUDENTIAL BORROWING
8.1 The Capital Programme is set by the Council and may be funded by 

sale proceeds from the disposal of assets (capital receipts), external 
grants and contributions, directly from revenue or from borrowing. A 
proposed Capital Programme for 2019/20 onwards is set out in 
Appendix C.    

8.2 Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy – The Council has 
agreed a commercial property acquisition strategy of up to £37.45 
million. To date, three investment properties have been purchased with 
a value of just over £20 million in aggregate. Purchases made within 
the strategy will be capital expenditure and will be in addition to the 
projects outlined in Appendix E.

8.3 Prudential Borrowing - The Council will consider the use of prudential 
borrowing to support capital investment to deliver services and will 
ensure that the full costs of borrowing are taken into account when 
investment decisions are made. 

8.4 A Recommendation has been made as part of this report on the overall 
Borrowing Limit for the MTFS.

9. Sensitivity analysis and risk analysis – The Council carries out 
sensitivity analysis and risk analysis of its Budget Proposals and this is 
shown in Appendix F.

10 NEXT STEPS
10.1 This MTFS is the starting point for developing a meaningful five year 

strategy that sets out the strategic intention for all of the different 
strands of funding available to the Council. The Council will then be 
able to rely on this to inform future decisions. The different elements 
that make up a Medium Term Financial Strategy are shown in the 
diagram in 4.1 and Appendix C. This report is asking Members to set 
the strategic intention for each of these components of the MTFS.

10.2 Officers will continue to work with the Cross Party Member Working 
Group (Financial Stability Review Group) and the results of this will be 
incorporated into future Budget reports. Section 7 and 
Recommendation 7 sets out the potential timescales against the areas 
identified. 



11. IMPLICATIONS

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y            The Hub Committee is responsible for 
recommending to Council the budgetary 
framework. It is the role of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to scrutinise the Budget 
proposals being proposed by the Council. In 
accordance with the Financial Procedure 
Rules, Council must decide the general level of 
Reserves and the use of Earmarked Reserves.

           The preparation of the Budget report is 
evidence that the Council has considered and 
taken into account all relevant information and 
proper advice when determining its financial 
arrangements in accordance with statutory 
requirements, and in particular, that it will set a 
lawful budget.

Appendix G to this report is considered exempt 
under paragraph 3 of schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 in that it concerns 
the financial or business affairs of the Council. 
The public interest has been assessed and it is 
considered that, the public interest is better 
served by non-disclosure to the press and 
public.

Financial Y            The financial implications are set out in 
           Section 6 of the report.

Risk Y Each of the budget options taken forward by 
Members will consider the risks of the option.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

Equality Impact Assessments are completed for the 
budget proposals.

Safeguarding None directly arising from this report.
Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder

None directly arising from this report.

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing

None directly arising from this report.

Other implications None directly arising from this report.
   



Supporting Information

Appendices:
Appendix A – Budget pressures and savings;
Appendix B – Modelling of the MTFS Position;
Appendix C – Components of a MTFS;
Appendix D – Schedule of Reserves (Unearmarked and Earmarked);
Appendix E – Capital Programme for 2019-20 onwards;
Appendix F – Sensitivity Analysis; and
EXEMPT Appendix G – Borrowing Advice from Treasury Management 
Advisers.



BUDGET PRESSURES AND SAVINGS APPENDIX  A

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL

BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

BUDGET PRESSURES £ £ £ £ £

Waste collection, recycling and cleansing contract (estimate) 190,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000

Inflation on the street cleaning and public conveniences 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

ICT future service provision 0 0 150,000 0 0

Reduction in planning income 0 0 0 0 0

Triennial Pension revaluation 25,000 0 75,000 0 0

Inflation on goods and services 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000

Increase in salaries - increments and pay and grading 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Increase in salaries - pay increase at 2% modelled 85,000 95,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Maintenance of trees 40,000 0 (20,000) 0 0

Reduction in Recycling credits 25,000 0 0 0 0

ICT support contracts - increase the budget to better align to actual expenditure 65,000 95,000 0 0 0

Cost of Borough Elections (one-off) 0 50,000 (50,000) 0 0

Reduce income target for Kilworthy Park to align to actual income received 25,000 0 0 0 0

Reduction in Housing Benefit administration subsidy  16,500 20,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

National Insurance and National Living Wage 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000

Provision for salary costs for steady state review 20,000 0 0 0 0

IT - replace ageing network switches 15,000 0 0 0 0

Waste - lease renewal 15,000 0 0 0 0

Revenue implication of the waste capital bid in 2017/18 capital programme 13,000 0 0 0 0

TOTAL IDENTIFIED BUDGET PRESSURES 674,500 470,000 415,000 260,000 260,000

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£ £ £ £ £

Contribution to Earmarked Reserves                                                                                                

(This line shows the annual contributions into the Reserve)

Contribution to IT Development Reserve (£25K per annum) 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000
Contribution to Planning Reserve (£25K per annum) 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Transformation Project (T18) - Approved at 9th December 2014 Council                                    

(One-off investment costs)                                                                                                    

Contribution to Strategic Change Reserve to meet redundancy and pension costs - 

Contributions reduce to zero in 2019/20 
10,000 0 0 0 0

Total Contribution to Earmarked Reserves 60,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000



BUDGET PRESSURES AND SAVINGS APPENDIX  A

SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION IDENTIFIED BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£ £ £ £ £

Income from investments in commercial property
100,000 100,000 20,000 40,000 120,000

Re-procurement of contracts (e.g. savings from Leisure contract) 0 0 100,000 130,000 270,000
Opt-in charged garden waste service 

122,500 0 0 0 0

Car parking income from a review of charges 
180,000 0 0 0 0

Additional car parking income  (to reflect current increase in use in 2017/18) 40,000 0 0 0 0

Public Conveniences
0 50,000 0 0 0

Review of Accommodation/Office requirements (effective 1 April 2018) 82,000 0 0 0 0

Kilworthy Park - reduction in operating costs 0 0 50,000 0 0

Housing Benefit recoveries of overpayments (increase income target to reflect actual 

income being achieved) 85,000 25,000 0 0 0

Cessation of accepting cash and cheques (effective 1 April 2018) 35,000 0 0 0 0

Planning Fees (increase income target to reflect actual income being achieved) 15,000 25,000 0 0 0

Residential Property rental income 0 0 0 28,000 0

Reduction in Partnership funding  (Minute CM24 - Council 24th July 2018) 15,330 14,000 0 0 0

Extra treasury management income 20,000 0 20,000 0 0

Trade waste income 15,000 0 0 0 0

Introduction of Direct Lets Scheme 10,000 12,000 0 0 0

Paperless Committee agendas 3,500 0 0 0 0

Council Tax Reduction Scheme - 8.6% reduction in Town and Parish Grant 6,100 5,500 59,000 0 0

Charging for duty planning service 6,500 0 0 0 0

Charging for food advice/ environmental health fees and charges 5,000 0 0 0 0

Savings from the re-procurement of the Insurance contract 35,000 0 0 0 0

Saving on external audit fees for 2018-19 8,000 0 0 0 0

TOTAL SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION 783,930 231,500 249,000 198,000 390,000



FINANCIAL STRATEGY APPENDIX B

Line

Modelling Scenario A - Modelling assumptions: Assumes Council Tax is 

increased by 2.99% annually; that negative Revenue Support Grant is 

eliminated in 19/20 and no pilot gain for 19/20 has been assumed. BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr 4 Yr5

No. Modelling for the financial years 2018/19 onwards 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £ £ 

1 Base budget brought forward 7,423,225 7,313,795 7,098,963 6,705,449 6,780,480 7,012,151
2 Budget pressures (as per Appendix A) 674,500 470,000 415,000 260,000 260,000 335,000
3 Savings already identified (as per Appendix A) (783,930) (231,500) (249,000) (198,000) (390,000) 0
4 Projected Net Expenditure:  7,313,795 7,552,295 7,264,963 6,767,449 6,650,480 7,347,151

Funded By:-

5
Council Tax income  - Modelling a 2.99% increase in council tax each year        

(Taxbase 18/19 = 20,117.85 Band D Equivalent properties)
4,524,706 4,696,958 4,875,449 5,060,480 5,252,151 5,450,983

6 Collection Fund Surplus 96,000 84,000 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000

7 Revenue Support Grant (Nil from 2018/19 onwards) 0 0 0 0 0 0

8
Localised Business Rates (baseline funding level - includes Rural Services 

Delivery Grant of £464,365 in 2018/19 due to Pilot status)
2,049,573 1,620,367 1,650,000 1,690,000 1,730,000 1,780,000

9 Tariff/Top Up Adjustment amount (negative RSG - assume Nil in 19/20) 0 0 (300,000) (400,000) (400,000) (400,000)

10 Business Rates - Pilot Gain 460,000 0 0 0 0 0

11 Funding from Rural Services Delivery Grant (included in line 8 for 2018/19) 0 372,638 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000

12 Funding from New Homes Bonus 560,000 375,000 100,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

13 Less: Contribution to Earmarked Reserves -60,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000

14 Less: Contribution to Future Financial Stability Earmarked Reserve -316,484

15 Total Projected Funding Sources 7,313,795 7,098,963 6,705,449 6,780,480 7,012,151 7,260,983

16

Budget gap/(surplus) per year                                                                               

(Projected Expenditure line 4 - Projected Funding line 15) 0 453,332 559,514 -13,031 -361,671 86,169

0

Actual Predicted Cumulative Budget Gap                                                0 453,332 1,012,847 999,816 638,144 724,313

Aggregated Budget Gap (if no action is taken in each individual year to 

close the budget gap annually) 0 453,332 1,466,179 2,465,995 3,104,139 3,828,452

Modelling Assumptions: (Assumes an increase in Band D Equivalent 

properties of 160 per annum)

Council Tax (Band D) (an increase of 2.99% per annum has been modelled) 224.91 231.63 238.55 245.68 253.02 260.59

Council TaxBase 20,117.85 20,277.85 20,437.85 20,597.85 20,757.85 20,917.85





APPENDIX C

Council Tax
• Average Band D total bill was £1,896 for 2018-19  (WDBC Band D of £224.91 

equates to a 12% share of the council tax bill)

• 2018/19 increase of £6.52 to £224.91 (2.99%) – a 1% increase raises £47,000

• Government Council Tax referendum threshold higher of £5 or 2.99% for 2018-19 
(2.99% was set to track CPI inflation) – The Government are currently consulting on 
applying the same thresholds for 2019-20. Latest CIP July 18 – CPI 2.5%, RPI 3.2%

• The Government has not announced any plans to change the council tax system or to 
carry out a council tax revaluation within the near future. In 2017/18 the Council had 
25,426 properties on the Valuation List, the make of up of which was 3,440 (Band A), 
6,381 (Band B), 5,294 (Band C), 4,121 (Band D), 3,334 (Band E), 1,761 (Band F), 
1,013 (Band G) and 82 properties in Band H. There are more Band B properties in the 
Borough than any other Band (representing 25%). Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 
claimants will be a separate report on the September Hub Committee agenda.

Council Tax Strategy Options: Members have options to either freeze council tax or to 
raise council tax anywhere between zero and 2.99%. Anything above 2.99% currently 
requires a council tax referendum, which is a costly exercise. Recent funding settlements 
from the Government are based on the assumption that Councils increase council tax by 
the maximum allowed.

Recommendation 1: To set the strategic intention to raise council tax by the maximum 
allowed in any given year, without triggering a council tax referendum, to enable the 
continued delivery of services.      

If this recommendation were to be agreed, it would have the following impact on council tax:

Council Tax 2018/19
CURRENT 
YEAR

2019/20
Year 1

2020/21
Year 2

2021/22
Year 3

2022/23
Year 4

2023/24
Year 5

Band D £224.91 £231.63 £238.55 £245.68 £253.02 £260.59
£ Increase £6.72 £6.92 £7.13 £7.34 £7.57
% Increase 2.99% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99%



APPENDIX C

Business Rates
 Self-sufficient local government: Business Rates Retention (BRR) of growth above 

the business rates baseline. The Government introduced the BRR system in April 
2013 with the aim of providing a direct link between business rates growth (economic 
growth) and the money councils have to spend on local services. 

 The title of the scheme (Business Rates Retention) has caused public confusion – as it 
implies that Councils are able to keep 40% of all of the business rates that they collect. 
This is not the case. Councils are only able to keep a share of any business rates growth 
above a baseline set by the Government. 

 The baseline is the amount of money that the Government has assessed that the Council 
needs to keep to fund its services, based on a needs formula. The Baseline is around 
£1.5 million for West Devon (rising to £1.6 million in 2019/20). Out of the business 
rates collected of £10 million, the Council keeps approximately 16 pence in every £1 
to run its services. The rest is paid back to the Government and a proportion goes to 
Upper Tier Councils e.g. the County Council, to pay for their services.

 There is a risk of volatility in the system because Councils are exposed to any loss of 
income if businesses go into decline. The Council retains a Business Rates Volatility 
Earmarked Reserve to cope with any fluctuations in business rates and at 31.3.18 the 
balance on this Reserve was £0.5m. The Council’s appeals provision was £1.03m.

 Since 2013/14 (when Business Rates Retention was introduced with a 50% scheme), 
the Council has been part of a Devonwide Business Rates Pool which has included all 
of the Devon District Councils (except South Hams for some of the latter years), 
Plymouth City Council (Lead Authority), Devon County Council and Torbay Unitary 
Council. The Pool has made Pooling gains every year and West Devon receives a share 
of the gains. The table below shows the business rates position from the 2017/18 
Accounts.

Business Rates Income receivable 2017/18 (collected) £10,032,307

Add on Section 31 Grants and Small Business Rates Relief £1,780,809

TOTAL £11,813,116

WDBC share (40% - see next page) £4,725,247

Less Tariff (amount deducted and paid to Government) £(3,017,068)

Total Business rates remaining after the Tariff (A) £1,708,179

      Funding Baseline 17/18 (money retained by WDBC)  (B) £1,538,973

     Growth (Business Rates achieved over the Baseline) (A-B) £169,206

Levy paid of (50%) £(84,603)

The Council received £82,000 from the 2017-18 Devon Pooling Gain (which was £4.47 
million across Devon Councils). Therefore the income from Business Rates which 
West Devon Borough Council retained in 2017-18 was the funding baseline of 
£1,538,973 plus the pooling gain of £82,000.



APPENDIX C

Business Rates Pilot 18/19
 In 2018/19 the Devon Authorities applied to the Government to be a business rates Pilot 

area and Devon was chosen by the Government to be one of ten Pilot areas nationally.

 Financial modelling showed that the Devon business rates area could benefit by 
somewhere in the region of up to £19 million by becoming a pilot in 2018/19.  This is 
Councils’ share of the level of growth above the business rates baseline which is 
estimated for Devon. The modelling showed that West Devon could benefit by 
approximately £460,000. This is one-off additional revenue money for the year of the 
pilot only (2018-19). Some of this funding has been used to fund the revenue base 
budget in 2018-19 and the remainder of £316,484 has been put into a future financial 
stability earmarked reserve.

 West Devon is a low growth area as shown overleaf (growth above baseline in 2017/18 
was £169,000). West Devon is a beneficiary of the pooling and pilot arrangements as 
the growth across the whole of Devon is divided up amongst all Devon Councils. In 
order to share financial rewards more evenly across the Pilot area, the 2018/19 Devon 
Pilot includes minimum funding levels for Districts (£0.5m) and the Unitaries/DCC 
(£1.5m). WDBC benefits from the minimum funding levels.

 In the future as Council funding is more reliant on business rates income, it puts West 
Devon in a more precarious position than most Councils due to its low growth and it is 
extremely important that the Council remains within the Devon pooling and pilot 
arrangements.

 The bid set out how pilot status for Devon would meet the principles of assisting 
financial sustainability for the District Councils, higher levels of investment in 
economic regeneration in Devon and support for Upper Tier Councils with the growing 
financial cost pressures of areas such as adult social care and children’s services.

 The diagram below compares the split of business rates income under the 50% scheme 
(from 2013/14 to 2017/18) to the 100% scheme (Pilot status in 2018/19) to the 75% 
scheme (recommendation to apply for Pilot status for 2019/20). The 75% scheme will 
be rolled out nationally from 2020/21 onwards.

Split of business 
rates income

50% scheme
(Devon Pool)

From 2013/14 to 
2017/18

100% scheme
(Devon Pilot 

status)

2018/19 only

75% scheme
(Application for 

Pilot status)

For 2019/20
WDBC (see note) 40% 40% 40%

Central Government 50% Nil 25%
DCC 9% 59% 34%
Fire 1% 1% 1%
Total 100% 100% 100%

NOTE: Even though West Devon starts off with a 40% share, a tariff is then 
deducted and paid over to Central Government, and therefore the amount of money 
West Devon ends up keeping is its business rates baseline funding amount plus any 
Pooling or Pilot Gain each year.



APPENDIX C

Business Rates Pilot 19/20
 The Government has invited applications for Business Rates Pilots for 2019/20 for 

Councils to pilot 75% Business Rates Retention. The deadline is 25th September 2018. 
There will be less Pilots allowed for 2019/20 than 2018/19 and less funding available.
There will be lots of competition from other areas around the country.

 As shown overleaf, this does not mean that West Devon would be able to retain 75% 
of its business rates income. West Devon Borough Council would retain its business 
rates baseline income (of £1.62 million for 19/20) plus the Pilot gain.

 Modelling which has been carried out on the application for 19/20 Pilot status shows 
that West Devon could gain approximately £250,000 of the projected £10 million 
19/20 Devon Pilot gain. This is approximately half of the 18/19 predicted WDBC gain 
of £460,000. This additional funding of £250,000 would be a one-off amount for 
2019/20 only.

 The 2019/20 Pilots will not have a ‘no detriment’ clause applied. However the safety 
net has also been increased to 95% (it is 92.5% currently), to reflect the additional risk 
locally that the 75% retention introduces and this will apply pilot wide and not to 
individual authorities. The modelling undertaken on the 19/20 Pilot position shows that 
the Devon Councils would receive a higher level of minimum resources under a Pilot 
(£224m) than under Pooling arrangements (£220m). Therefore the risks of the no 
detriment clause have been considered and are assessed as low risk.

 The Government will make available safety net payments if a Council’s business rates 
income falls by a certain amount. This will provide support if, for example a major local 
employer closes. The safety net payments will be funded by a levy paid by those 
Councils whose business rates revenue increases by a disproportionate amount 
compared to their needs.

 Business Rates reliefs will be kept under review and the Council will actively pursue a 
strategy to ensure that all businesses that should be paying are paying.

Recommendation 2: To submit an application for Pilot status for 2019/20 and to agree a 
40% District/34% Devon County Council/1% Fire split for the 75% scheme, with the 
agreement to remain part of the Devon Business Rates Pool for 2019/20 if the Pilot bid is 
not successful.

Recommendation 3: To actively lobby Central Government and Devon MPs to support a 
2019/20 Devon Pilot bid



APPENDIX C

Business Rates Baseline Re-set for 2020-21 
onwards

The future for Business Rates in 2020 onwards

 One of the largest financial risks that the Council is facing is around how the 
Government will re-set the Business Rates Baseline for the Council in 2020 onwards 
when the 75% scheme is rolled out nationally. Many factors will influence this, 
including the Government’s Fairer Funding Review.

Recommendation 4: To actively lobby and engage with the Government, Devon 
MPs and other sector bodies such as the District Councils Network and the Rural 
Services Network, for a realistic business rates baseline to be set for the Council 
for 2020 onwards.

Rural Services Delivery Grant

 Rural Services Delivery Grant – The 2018/19 funding was increased from £65m to 
£81m. This has meant extra RSDG funding of £91,726 for 2018/19 -the Council’s 
allocation increased to £464,365. The £464,365 has been built into the Council’s 
business rates baseline due to the Council’s Pilot status. The amount of RSDG for 
2019/20 is anticipated to be £372,638 as per Appendices B and C. The Government has 
not indicated what RSDG allocations will be post 2019/20 (£350K assumed post 2020). 

 The Strategy for Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) is that the Council will 
continue to provide local evidence of the cost of delivering services in rural areas, in 
order to lobby for higher allocations of RSDG as has happened in previous years.



APPENDIX C

Negative Revenue Support Grant

Business Rates Tariff Adjustment in 2019/20 (Negative Revenue Support Grant)

 The Business Rates Tariff Adjustment is an amount in 2019/20 which increases an 
authority’s tariff. It is applied where cuts to a Council’s Settlement Funding Assessment 
(SFA) cannot be achieved through further cuts to the Revenue Support Grant (RSG), 
as the RSG is already zero. In effect the Tariff Adjustment is negative Revenue Support 
Grant which the Government chose to reflect through a change to the tariff, although 
this change has nothing to do with the business rates system and has caused confusion.

 In a technical consultation issued on 24 July 2018, the Government has set out its 
preferred option to eliminate Negative Revenue Support Grant in 2019/20. This would 
cost the Government £153m as negative RSG affects 168 Councils (with both West 
Devon and South Hams being affected).

 The negative RSG currently included within the Council’s funding allocation for 
2019/20 amounts to £293,377. If the Government eliminates this, as an outcome of 
the consultation process, the Council’s budget position is bettered by £300K for 
2019/20. The Council is hopeful the Government will reverse it, as this is the 
Government’s preferred option in the consultation.

 The Medium Term Financial Strategy assumes that negative RSG will be reduced 
to zero in 2019/20 and this reduced funding pressure has been built into the latest 
modelling set out in this report. If the position changes, the MTFS will be updated to 
reflect this. 

 It is assumed that negative RSG remains in some form (e.g. as part of the business rates 
baseline reset) from 2020/21 onwards.

Recommendation 5: That WDBC responds to the technical consultation in support 
of the Government eliminating Negative Revenue Support Grant and continues to 
lobby for Rural Services Delivery Grant allocations which adequately reflect the 
cost of rural service provision.



APPENDIX C

New Homes Bonus             
• The New Homes Bonus was introduced in 2011 to provide a clear incentive for local 

authorities to encourage housing growth in their areas. It rewards local Councils for 
additional homes added to the council tax base, as well as long term empty properties 
brought back into use. The Council receives £1,272 per property over the baseline plus 
£280 per affordable home. The Council has modelled an extra 160 properties per annum 
in its Taxbase (estimate of housing growth).

• Following consultation, the Government has implemented reforms to the scheme to 
sharpen the incentive for housing growth. The length of New Homes Bonus payments 
was reduced in length from 6 years to 5 years in 2017-18 and 4 years from 2018-19. 

• From 2017-18 the Government has introduced a national baseline for housing growth 
of 0.4% below which New Homes Bonus will not be paid, which the Government has 
said reflects a percentage of housing that would have been built anyway. The baseline 
equated to 98 Band D Equivalent properties for West Devon. So for the first 98 extra 
properties per annum the Council receives no NHB.

• The Government released a consultation in July which stated their intention to 
increase the 0.4% baseline. They have also stated that 2019-20 represents the final 
year of NHB funding and from 2020 onwards they will explore how to incentivise 
housing growth most effectively, for example by using the Housing Delivery Test 
results to reward delivery or incentivising plans that meet or exceed local housing need.  
The Government will consult widely on any changes prior to implementation.   

• The table below shows possible levels of NHB (or an alternative introduced post 2020) 
and how this could be used. 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Amount of NHB 642,946 433,971 130,000? 80,000?

To fund Capital 
(affordable housing)

(65,000) (50,000) TBA TBA

To fund the Revenue 
Base Budget

(560,000) (375,000) (100,000) (50,000)

Funding 
remaining/shortfall

17,946
remaining

8,971 TBA TBA

Recommendation 6: To use £375,000 of New Homes Bonus funding for 2019-20 to 
fund the revenue base budget and then reduce to £100,000 by 2020-21 and £50,000 
by 2021-22 for modelling purposes.



APPENDIX C

Reserves Policy
• Current Levels of Reserves: £1.2 million Unearmarked Reserves and Earmarked 

Reserves of £4 million

• The Council’s Net Budget is £7.3 million for 2018/19. Therefore Unearmarked 
Reserves equate to 16% of the Council’s Net Budget.

• The Council currently makes an annual contribution to Earmarked Reserves of £25,000 
to the IT Development Reserve and £25,000 to the Planning Reserve.

• It is recommended that the annual level of contribution to Earmarked Reserves 
(£50,000) and the adequacy of the existing level of Earmarked Reserves (£4 million) is 
delegated to the Cross Party Member Working Group (Financial Stability Review 
Group - FSRG) to review and make recommendations by the end of October. This will 
assess their adequacy in light of future plans and pressures.

• Recommendations from the FSRG can be built into the next iteration of the MTFS (20th 
November 18)

• £316,484 from the 2018/19 Budget (pilot gain) was put into a Future Financial Stability 
Earmarked Reserve and there is £0.4m uncommitted in the Invest to Earn Earmarked 
Reserve and £0.2m uncommitted in the 2016/17 Budget Surplus Contingency 
Earmarked Reserve.

Minimum level of Reserves to be held

 As part of the Medium Term Financial Plan report to Members in July 2018, it was 
approved to retain the same policy of maintaining a minimum level of Unearmarked 
Reserves of £750,000.  The Unearmarked Reserves (General Fund) balance of £1.197 
million stands above the minimum balance of £750,000 and acts as a safeguard against 
unforeseen financial pressures. Given the increase in financial risks which the Council 
faces, the Council should consider increasing this level through a stepped increase over 
the next five years, to reflect the new level of risks. The increased financial risks are in 
part from the Council’s commercial property acquisition strategy where prudential 
borrowing of up to £37.45 million has been approved.

 Further detail on the Council’s Unearmarked and Earmarked Reserves is set out in 
Appendix D of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Recommendation 7: That the annual level of contribution to Earmarked Reserves 
(£50,000) and the adequacy of the existing level of Unearmarked Reserves (£1.2 
million) and Earmarked Reserves (£4 million) is delegated to the Cross Party 
Member Working Group (Financial Stability Review Group - FSRG) to review 
and make recommendations by the end of October. This will assess the adequacy 
of Reserves levels, in light of future plans and pressures.



APPENDIX C

Pension Strategy
 WDBC currently pays a 13.3% employer pension contribution for staff in the Local 

Government Pension Scheme. This is called the future service contribution rate. This 
is the anticipated cost to the Council of the pension rights that staff will accrue in the 
future and is expressed as a percentage (%) of pensionable payroll. Employees pay a 
separate amount out of their salary into the Pension Fund (the employee contribution).

 In addition to the 13.3%, the Council pays an annual sum of £500,000 into the Pension 
Fund as a past service deficit annual contribution. This cost arises where the cost of 
pension rights that have already been accrued turn out to be higher than expected. This 
happens where the Fund experience differs from previous assumptions, and so the 
contributions paid do not match the cost of the pension rights accrued during a previous 
period. The Council has been paying this sum annually for a long period of time.

 The Pension Fund has an Actuarial Valuation every 3 years which re-calculates the 
employer contributions that need to be paid for the next three years and the deficit 
contributions. Below are the results of the 2016 Actuarial Valuation. The Council is 
currently paying the Deficit off over a 17 years recovery period. An option could be to 
extend the 17 years deficit recovery period to align with the period of other employers 
within the Devon Pension Fund (which is longer e.g. 20 to 25 years) and to increase the 
affordability of these payments in the next Actuarial Revaluation or to pay a lump sum. 
The Council has currently included a £75,000 cost pressure for 2020/21 for the 
Triennial Pension Valuation and the Council will take specialist advice on this.

WDBC Pension Fund 2016 Actuarial Valuation

Assets £22.2 million

Liabilities £(29.4) million

Deficit £(7.2) million

Funding Level 76%

Deficit Recovery Period 17 years

Recommendation 8 - That the Council takes specialist pension advice on the 
options for the Council’s Pension position, with the aim of reducing the current 
contributions,  increasing affordability, whilst best managing the pension deficit. 
It is also recommended that the Council has early dialogue with DCC and the 
actuaries with regards to the Council having an input into the actuarial 
assumptions used for the 2019 Actuarial Valuation. Options will be taken back to 
the Council’s Audit Committee on 22nd January to consider.



APPENDIX C

Treasury Management /Borrowing Strategy

The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy details its borrowing limits 
and specifies approved institutes for investment, (with maximum limits), 
based on credit ratings and other pertinent factors. It also publishes 
Prudential Indicators which set investment and borrowing performance 
indicators to ensure that the Council stays within these guidelines. 

• Borrowing Limits – The current Treasury Management Strategy (approved 
March 2018) shows the approved level of Operational Borrowing Limits:
2018/19 – Operational Boundary of £47.5 million
2019/20 onwards – Operational Boundary of £47.5 million (the operational 
boundary includes some headroom for unforeseen circumstances)

This reflects the current level of the Council’s Commercial Property 
Acquisition Strategy of up to £37.45 million. In addition the Council has also 
approved to borrow £2.65 million for waste vehicles and £1.5 million for 
Leisure Investment (in addition to the £2.1 million borrowing for Kilworthy 
Park). This totals £43.7 million. Note the Council may also wish to undertake 
borrowing for community housing schemes. 

• The Council has taken external treasury management advice on the 
Council’s overall borrowing levels and debt levels and this advice is attached 
in Exempt Appendix G. Their recommendation is that the Council limits its 
overall borrowing envelope for its whole operations and services to £50 
million. This advice is based on a range of benchmarking of indices that they 
have undertaken. Borrowing needs to be proportionate and affordable and 
with always having regard to the risks involved in the repayment of the debt. 
The next Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20 would look to increase 
the Operational Boundary Limit to £50 million if Recommendation 9 below 
is approved. Members are able to set a higher borrowing limit if they wish to 
do so. The S151 Officer’s advice is to keep borrowing levels within the £50 
million limit advised. Sensitivity analysis is shown in Appendix F. 

• The Council will have to publish new indicators for Investments in 2018-19 
and these include indicators such as the following:
Level of debt compared to Net Service Expenditure (proportionality)
(This indicator would be £50 million/ £8.9 million = a factor of 5.6)
Gross and Net income from investment portfolios
Vacancy levels and tenant exposures
Net income from property investments, compared to interest costs on debt

Recommendation 9 – That the Council sets an Upper Limit on External 
Borrowing (for all Council services) as part of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy of £50 million as per Exempt Appendix G.



APPENDIX C

Treasury Management /Borrowing 
Strategy (continued)

• The Council maintains regular engagement with our Treasury Management 
advisors and constantly seeks their advice on our strategic direction and key 
operational decisions. The Council’s Borrowing Strategy will be to borrow 
appropriately to meet the Council’s objectives as a form of financing. The key is 
affordability criteria and the Council being able to service that borrowing.

• The Council will set a framework around the borrowing through its annual Treasury 
Management Strategy. There will be regular (at least annual) reviews of the 
Council’s borrowing levels and the Council will weigh up opportunities against that 
borrowing limit. The key borrowing mechanism is through the PWLB. However 
the Council will continue to explore other sources e.g. Municipal Bonds Agency 

Minimum Revenue Provision 

(repaying the Principal element of debt repayments)
• The Council has currently approved the following Minimum Revenue Provision 

Policy through its Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19. No changes are 
currently proposed to the Council’s MRP Policy but this will be kept under regular 
review. If there are projects which officers feel would warrant a different approach, 
this will be brought back to Members on a business case basis for approval to vary 
the current MRP Policy.

Borrowing MRP Methodology
Commercial Property 
acquisition
(Borrowing of up to £37.45 
million)

Annuity Method (over the 50 years)
Under this calculation, the revenue budget 
bears an equal annual charge (for principal and 
interest) over the life of the asset by taking into 
account the time value of money. Under this 
example, the MRP charge in Year 1 on a £37.45 
million borrowing would be £367,000, this rises 
to £377,000 in Year 2 etc. 

Waste Fleet, Leisure 
Investment and Kilworthy 
Park

Asset Life Method
MRP is charged using the Asset Life method – 
based on the estimated life of the asset. 
This option provides for a reduction in the 
borrowing need over approximately the assets’ 
life.

Investments
The Council has widened its use of approved counterparties from countries with a 
minimum sovereign credit rating of AA-. The criteria, time limits and monetary 
limits applying to institutions are set out within the Council’s treasury management 
strategy approved at Council on 27th March 2018.



APPENDIX C

Future Cost Pressures
• The Council’s Strategy is to identify cost pressures as early as possible. Cost pressures 

can be annual or one-off and can arise for a variety of reasons e.g. legislative changes, 
increase in demand, factors beyond the Council’s control e.g. market conditions such 
as recycling rates, economic conditions or natural events.

• Appendix A of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) sets out the cost pressures 
which have been identified for the next five years and these total £470,000 for 2019/20.

• The Medium Term Financial Position has included a cost pressure of £70,000 for 
Inflation and increases on Goods and Services. The main items are £20,000 for Business 
Rates increases, £2,500 for the Apprenticeship Levy,  £7,500 Utilities inflation and an 
amount of £40,000 is to fund a 2.5% uplift on other expenditure budgets.

• The strategy takes account of a 1% rise in pay, however, the Council needs to respond 
to national pay bargaining. The Council has built the 2% pay award for 2019/20 which 
has already been agreed into the MTFS and this equates to £95,000. Thereafter 1% has 
been profiled each year for years 2 to 5 of the MTFS.

• Consideration should be given during any review of the MTFS as to whether to continue 
with the Local Government terms and conditions of employment Green Book. It is 
recommended to continue with this for at least 2019/20. It is also recommended to 
review all options for reducing staff costs by varying terms from the Green Book from 
2020/21, with an initial report back by the end of 2018/2019.

• A cost pressure of £95,000 has been included in 19/20 for ICT Support contracts, to 
better align the budget to actual expenditure. The ICT budget was set assuming that the 
Civica solutions introduced by the T18 Transformation Programme would perform as 
required.  In practice, additional solutions were procured in order to maintain services 
where using the Civica solution was not practical. This was explained in detail in the 
Medium Term Financial Position report to the Hub Committee on 17th July 2018. 

• A further cost pressure for £150,000 has been shown in 2020/21 for ICT future service 
provision. A separate report for IT procurement is also on the agenda for the September 
Hub Committee for consideration.

• The strategy will be to state cost pressures as they come onto the horizon and to put 
mitigation in place through the budget setting process on an annual basis.

• Recommendation 10: To continue with the Local Government terms and 
conditions of employment Green Book for at least 2019/20. To review all options 
for reducing staff costs by varying terms from the Green Book from 2020/21, with 
an initial report back by the end of 2018/2019.



APPENDIX C

Income Generation / Savings  

Fees and Charges 
• The Council’s Extended Leadership Team will present further budget options to 

Members for income generation/savings/reduced expenditure, as part of the Budget 
Setting Workshop being planned for Monday 8th October.

• The Extended Leadership Team will bring forward business cases to Members to 
invest in technology to make savings or reduce costs in the base budget. This could 
also be through working with Partners e.g. Town and Parish Councils.

• During 2019/20, there will be a report to Members on options on the restructure of 
the Senior Leadership Team which will be reviewed. This will be for a decision 
within the first six months of the new Council.

• Income from Fees and Charges will be annually reviewed and set. Some fees and 
charges are set by statute (e.g. planning fees) and others are set on a cost recovery 
basis e.g. licensing.

• The Council’s strategy is that COP Leads will work with Hub Lead Members to 
review fees and charges on a regular (at least annual) basis and these will be 
presented to the relevant Committee or Council for approval as part of the budget 
setting process.

• For those not prescribed, fees will be set at a realistic rate following appropriate 
consultation e.g. car parking tariffs or charging for public conveniences (20p).

• Some income will be incidental e.g. recycling and will be market led in terms of 
income received. The strategy will be to share that risk with the contractor.

• The Council will continue to carry out paid consultancy work for other Local 
Authorities for example business transformation (T18), Human Resources (carrying 
out assessments using the behavioural framework) – to generate income for WDBC.

• Assets and Estate Management – the strategy is that rental income will be at market 
rates and rents are reviewed in a timely manner with active debt recovery. The 
Council has target occupancy levels, though rent free periods can also be allowed 
in limited circumstances where there is a business need.



APPENDIX C

Procurement 

• The Council’s strategy is to market test its services through a pragmatic and rational 
approach and to look at the whole value for money case in terms of whether or not to 
procure. This would include soft market testing and taking procurement advice around 
the legislative framework. 

• Where the Council does go out to procurement, there will be a balance between cost 
and quality. The Council’s strategy is to build flexibility and risk sharing into the 
Council’s contracts, whilst retaining value for money and having the ability to make 
potential changes on the contract.

• The Council will look to procure externally, where appropriate, keeping risk in mind. 
Where the Council doesn’t have the necessary in-house expertise, the cost of using 
external advisers will be included within the cost of the project. 

• The Council will also future proof its services. For example ICT contracts are much 
more dynamic and ever-changing and more suited to shorter contracts. Other services 
such as waste are more suited to longer term contracts.

• The Council is currently procuring its waste collection, recycling and cleansing services 
through a competitive dialogue process. The latest report was to Council on 24th July. 
Council Minute CM25 refers. The procurement process will now continue to the ‘Final 
Solutions’ stage, with a further final report being brought to the Council meeting of 4th 
December 2018.

Partnership Funding/Grants       

     

• Following reports to both the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (26th June) and the 
Hub Committee, it has been approved by Council (Minute CM24 – Council 24th July 
2018) to reduce funding to Partnerships by £14,000 for 2019/20.

• The Council’s SeaMoor Lotto (Community Lottery) and the Crowdfunder will help 
certain projects / groups. Partners will be able to join the Lottery facilitated by the 
Council in order to raise funding.



APPENDIX C

Review of Assets

    

 The Council’s Asset Base is £22.3 million at 31 March 2018. The Council will 
continually review and challenge its asset base in order to deliver the optimum value 
for money from the Council’s Assets.

 On 5th June 2018, the Hub Committee considered a report on Council Owned Asset 
Investment and Development opportunities. The Council will prepare detailed business 
cases on the opportunities in the report and report back to Members within three 
months.

 Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy – The Council has agreed a commercial 
property acquisition strategy of up to £37.45 million. To date, three investment 
properties have been purchased after 31st March 2018 with a value of just over £20 
million in aggregate (54% of the portfolio of £37.4m). A further income projection of 
£100,000 from investments in commercial property has been built into the 2019/20 
Base Budget.

 The Council’s commercial property acquisition strategy has multiple objectives as 
stated below:
i) To help the Council continue to deliver and/or improve frontline services in line 

with the Council’s adopted strategy & objectives
ii) To support regeneration and the economic activity of the Borough, the LEP area 

and the South West Peninsula (in that priority order)
iii) To enhance economic benefit/business rates growth
iv) To assist with the financial sustainability of the Council through yield being an 

ancillary benefit.
West Devon Borough Council is a business rates pilot area for 2018/19, which sets out 
the economic objectives of the pilot area.

 New property acquisitions are assessed against the Council’s multiple objectives and 
the criteria which are set out in the Strategy. It is envisaged that the gross yield (an 
ancillary benefit) will average 5.85%. 





APPENDIX D

EARMARKED AND UNEARMARKED RESERVES

1.1 The Council’s Net Budget is £7.3 million in 2018/19. It is still recommended to retain the same policy 
of maintaining a minimum level of Unearmarked Reserves of £750,000 but to look to increase this in a 
stepped way over the five year period of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

1.2 There is a need to maintain un-earmarked revenue reserves to provide stability for both medium 
and longer term planning and to provide a contingency against unforeseen events. In setting the minimum 
level at £750,000, the following have been taken into account:

 The size of the authority

 The volatility of some income and expenditure budgets due to a dependency on the weather, 
tourism and state of the economy

 The risks faced by the Council with regard to funding unforeseen events

 Uncertainty over future Government funding and Business Rates 

 Uncertainty over future New Homes Bonus allocations

1.3 The Unearmarked Reserves (General Fund) balance of £1.197 million stands above the minimum 
balance of £750,000 and acts as a safeguard against unforeseen financial pressures. 

1.4 Specific Earmarked Reserves - The level and commitments for each reserve are kept under review 
each year to make sure the committed balance is adequate for its purpose (in accordance with LLAP 
Bulletin 99, a guide on ‘Reserves’ from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance). 

1.5 A schedule of Earmarked Reserves for 17/18 is shown below. The Council has Earmarked Reserves of 
£4 million.

1.6 The tables below show the movements on the two Earmarked Reserves that were set up as part of 
the Budget approved for 2016/17. 



2017/18

EARMARKED RESERVES

Balance 
at

31 March
2017

Transfers
Out

Transfers
In

Balance 
at

31 March
2018

£000 £000 £000 £000
General Fund
Car Parking Maintenance 440 (5) - 435
ICT Development 24 (19) 25 30
JSG Future Options             46 (35) -              11
Planning Policy & Major Developments 39 (60) 65 44
16/17 Budget Surplus Contingency 669 (287) - 382
Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) 906 (182) - 724
Outdoor Sports & Recreation 7 - 11 18
Waste & Cleansing Options Review 80 - - 80
Community Housing Fund 248 (5) - 243
Leisure Services 174 - 57 231
Support Services Trading - - 8 8
Environmental Health Initiatives - - 20 20
Habitats Reserve 13 (3) - 10
Landscape Maintenance 5 - - 5
Invest to Save 27 - - 27
Elections 24 - - 24
DCC Localism Support Officer 4 - 1 5
REIP – Localism Projects 1 (1) - -
New Burdens CLG 3 - - 3
CLG – Assets Community Value 8 - - 8
Neighbourhood Planning Grants 58 (11) - 47
World Heritage Key Site 5 - - 5
Cannons Meadow 16 (3) - 13
Millwood Homes 15 - - 15
DCC Public Health 6 - - 6
Revenue Grants 59 - 161 220
Business Rates Retention Scheme 218 - 291 509
Town Teams & Economic Grants 23 - - 23
Flood Works 18 (3) - 15
New Homes Bonus 227 (963) 961 225
Homelessness 30 - 65 95
Strategic Change 111 (51) 227 287
Planning Enforcement 5 - - 5
Maintenance Fund 223 - - 223
S106 Monitoring - - 19 19
TOTAL EARMARKED
REVENUE RESERVES 3,732 (1,628) 1,911 4,015



Car Parking Maintenance - In line with the Council’s car parking strategy, a car parking maintenance reserve 
is maintained to ensure that major planned works on car parks can be carried out at the appropriate time, in 
line with a cyclical programme of maintenance and repairs.

16/17 Budget Surplus Contingency – This reserve was created as part of the 2016/17 Budget setting 
process. There is an uncommitted balance remaining of £234,000.

Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) – This fund has an uncommitted balance of £439,000. The remainder of 
this fund will be used to acquire and develop land within West Devon to support local housing need (Hub 
Committee 12/9/17).  

Community Housing Fund – This reserve was set up to hold the Community Housing Fund Grant. We are 
working on developing a community housing initiative, which is designed to help local residents to 
determine and deliver appropriate and affordable housing for their communities.

Business Rates Retention Scheme - The business rates reserve covers any possible funding issues from the 
new accounting arrangements.

New Homes Bonus – This reserve was established to show how New Homes Bonus funding has been used 
on an annual basis. 

Strategic Change Reserve (T18) – This reserve was set up to finance one off investments under the Council’s 
Transformation Programme that are required for development or the release of ongoing efficiencies. This 
reserve was funding pension strain costs. 





APPENDIX E

Capital Programme for 2019-20 onwards

1. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2021/22

1.1 The table below shows an outline capital budget proposal for the Capital Programme for 
2019/20 to 2021/22. 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Village Halls and

Community Projects 

(Note 1)

TBA TBA TBA

Affordable Housing

(Note 2)

50,000 50,000 50,000

Private Sector Renewals 
including Disabled 
Facilities Grants 

763,715 800,000 800,000

TOTAL CAPITAL 

PROGRAMME

813,715 850,000 850,000

Suggested method of funding the Capital Programme:

Better Care funding 

towards DFGs 

(assumed will match the 
spend)

(763,715) (800,000) (800,000)

New Homes

Bonus (Required to

fund the Capital

Programme)

50,000 50,000 50,000



Note 1 – The Capital requirements for Village Halls and Community Projects will be assessed 
annually.

Note 2 – Affordable Housing

Within the last year, the capital programme has helped to support the following schemes:

 Cannonsmead Cottages, South Tawton.  This is a scheme of 6 units all for rented 
accommodation which will be advertised through Devon Home Choice once complete.  The 
properties will be owned and managed by Rural Specialists Hastoe Housing.  Completion is 
expected to be in the middle of next year.  Consultation events took place earlier last year 
and officers will raise awareness of this scheme prior to its completion.

 Walkham Meadows, Horrabridge.  This scheme is 10 units in total and all of which will be for 
affordable rent.  The scheme is being owned and managed by DCH who also own the 
properties on the adjacent scheme.  The properties will be advertised through Devon Home 
Choice and awareness events will take place in Horrabridge prior to completion.

The affordable housing capital programme has been vital in the delivery of affordable homes, 
particularly within our rural communities.  Recent spend of the capital programme money were for 
rural schemes in Horrabridge and South Tawton.  This £50,000 capital funding each year is likely to be 
needed in the future due to the reduction in off site contributions that were previously collected.  This 
is due to changes in the National Planning Policy Framework which means the Council cannot collect 
payments in lieu of affordable housing on 5 or less units.  Historically the authority was able to take 
up to £14k per unit which could be added to s106 monies to provide subsidy for future developments 
like South Tawton.

In terms of the capital programme, housing officers would like to ask for £50,000 to support schemes 
similar to the above.  Developments have not come forward in a timely manner which would have 
provided a commuted sum and therefore this amount is requested to enable affordable housing 
developments to come forward. The funding is paid directly to the housing association on receipt of 
an invoice.

Note 3 - Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy – The Council has agreed a commercial property 
acquisition strategy of up to £37.45 million. To date, three investment properties have been purchased 
with a value of just over £20 million in aggregate. Purchases made within the strategy will be capital 
expenditure and will be in addition to the projects outlined in this Appendix.

Note 4 – Pay on Entry for Public Conveniences

A report is being considered by the Hub Committee on the future provision of public conveniences. 
Depending on the outcome of the recommendations on the report, there maybe a requirement to 
purchase pay on entry equipment of between £50,000 to £60,000, which it is recommended is funded 
from the Strategic Change Earmarked Reserve.



APPENDIX F

Sensitivity analysis and risk analysis of the Budget Proposals 2019-20

1. The budget assumes approximately £3 million of income from fees and 
charges, recycling and investments. Whilst this assumption is realistic, 
given the position of the economy there is a risk that income could fall or 
be less than anticipated. A 5% reduction in income would result in a loss 
of £150,000.

2. The Budget Proposals rely on proposed savings over the next 5 years of 
£1.07 million. A 5% reduction in the savings would equate to £53,500.

3. The Budget Proposals assume budget pressures over the next 5 years of 
£1.74 million. A 5% increase in the budget pressures would equate to 
£87,000.

4. Council Tax Income and New Homes Bonus have been modelled based on 
an extra 160 Band D Equivalent properties per annum increase. Each extra 
property attracts 1,272 in NHB.  If this figure were to actually be say 100 
properties (i.e. 60 properties less), this would mean that Council Tax 
Income would be £14,000 less and New Homes Bonus income would be 
£76,000 less.

5. Council Tax has been assumed in the Budget Proposals to increase by 
£6.72 to £231.63 in 2019/20. The additional council tax income this would 
generate is £136,000. If council tax for 2019/20 were to remain at 
£224.91, the income from council tax would be overstated by this amount 
in the Budget Proposals.

6. If Council Tax income collection fell by 1% (collection in 17/18 was 97.6%), 
this would mean a reduction of council tax income of £47,000. Similarly if 
Business Rates income collection fell by 1% (collection in 17/18 was 
98.0%), this would mean a reduction in business rates income of £16,000.

7. Income from investments has been assumed to increase in line with the 
expected interest rate forecasts in Section 3.   A 0.25% variation in interest 
rates on investment income equates to £20,000.

8. An allowance of 2% for inflation is included in the budget. Inflation costs 
are being managed through cost effective procurement.



9. The capital programme is funded by receipts, grants, and contributions. 
Realistic assumptions about these have been made for the future.

10. Known liabilities have been provided for and there are no significant 
outstanding claims.

11. Borrowing Levels

Exempt Appendix G gives advice on the borrowing level for the Council 
and the Interest payments on the borrowing as a percentage of available 
Reserves. The tables below show the impact that a change of Interest 
payable at 2.5% on borrowing to 3% on borrowing has on this Indicator.

Total 
Borrowing

Interest 
repayments 
at 2.5%

Level of 
Reserves 
£5.2m

(£1.2m 
Unearmarked 
and £4m 
Earmarked)

Interest payments (at 2.5%) 
as % of available Reserves

£35m £875,000 £5.2m 16.8%
£50m £1,250,000 £5.2m 24.0%
£75m £1,875,000 £5.2m 36.1%

Total 
Borrowing

Interest 
repayments 
at 3%

Level of 
Reserves 
£5.2m

(£1.2m 
Unearmarked 
and £4m 
Earmarked)

Interest payments (at 3%) 
as % of available Reserves

£35m £1,050,000 £5.2m 20%
£50m £1,500,000 £5.2m 28.8%
£75m £2,250,000 £5.2m 43.3%



Summary & conclusion

Sensitivity analysis and risks are identified above with a potential total adverse 
revenue effect for 2019/20 of £599,500. However, revenue reserves are 
recommended to be maintained at a minimum of £750,000. I therefore confirm 
the robustness of the Budget Proposals and the adequacy of the reserves.

Mrs Lisa Buckle, Strategic Finance Lead (S151 Officer)









Appendix B of this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972

Report to: Hub Committee

Date: 11 September 2018

Title: Commercial Property Strategy Amendment

Portfolio Area: Cllr Neil Jory, Assets

Wards Affected: All
Relevant Scrutiny 
Committee: Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Date next steps can be 
taken:

After Council, 25 September

Authors: Invest to Earn Working Group, Members: 
Cllrs Edmonds, Jory & Samuel
Darren Arulvasagam / Chris Brook 
Business Development / Assets CoP Lead
Darren.Arulvasagam@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  

That Hub Committee RECOMMEND that Council:

1. APPROVE & IMPLEMENT the commercial property strategy as 
detailed in Appendix A; and

2. RESCIND the currently adopted commercial property 
acquisition strategy as detailed in Appendix E.

1.0 Executive Summary 
1.1 On 27th March 2018 Council approved the recommendations of a 

report entitled “Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy Update”. 
This provided an update on the implementation of the strategy to 
date and Members approved an amended strategy.

1.2 Following meetings of the Invest to Earn Group, officers have now 
formulated a new commercial property strategy (shown in Appendix 
A), which combines the ability to make property acquisitions with 
in-borough asset developments, in line with the “Enterprise” 
corporate strategic objective of creating places for enterprise to 
thrive and business to grow.  

1.3 The proposed strategy would have multiple objectives as stated 
below:

1.3.1 Support regeneration and the economic activity of the 
Borough, the LEP area and the South West Peninsula (in that 
priority order)

1.3.2 Enhance economic benefit and create business rate growth
1.3.3 Assist with the financial sustainability of the Council as an 

ancillary benefit
1.3.4 Help the Council continue to deliver and/or improve frontline 

services

mailto:Darren.Arulvasagam@swdevon.gov.uk


1.4 Each acquisition or development opportunity will be assessed on its 
fit with meeting the objectives stated above and should deliver one 
or more of the following desired outcomes (benefits):
1.3.5 Job creation or safeguarding
1.3.6 Health & Wellbeing
1.3.7 Town centre regeneration
1.3.8 Tourism / Increased footfall
1.3.9 Business rate growth 
1.3.10Improved asset utilisation
1.3.11A minimum Net yield of 1% 

1.4 This strategy will be achieved by acquisitions and developments 
within the South West Peninsula.  This will include the focussed 
acquisition of existing commercial property assets and the 
development of new properties which are to be let to third parties.

1.5 It is recommended that the total borrowing limit for the Council is 
increased to £50m, but this sum is to include all current borrowing 
and borrowing that has already been committed.  Any surplus will 
be available to implement this strategy.  This Council limit is based 
on the independent borrowing advice shown in Exempt Appendix B 
which recommends a total borrowing limit of £50m for the whole of 
the Council’s operations, based on the Council’s specific financial 
status.  Appendix C shows an example of the Council’s borrowing 
requirements and a summary of its current borrowing.

1.6 This strategy replaces the Commercial Property Acquisition 
Strategy, but those delegated authorities (to the Invest to Earn 
Group and the Head of Paid Service, in consultation with the S151 
officer and the Leader of the Council) would carry over to this 
strategy in order to implement this strategy operationally.  The 
committee are asked to support these recommendations.

1.7 The Invest to Earn Group Members will consider each and every 
proposal on its own merits and specifically how each proposal meets 
the Council’s multiple objectives and delivers the required 
outcomes.  

1.8 The proposed strategy and/or implementation can be updated or 
ceased at any point prior to the full budget of the strategy being 
expended (and the required funding being borrowed), if Members 
determine that market conditions have deteriorated enough to 
make it financially unattractive.  

1.9 Borrowing will not be undertaken in advance of need and only on a 
project by project basis.  Projects and their outcomes will be kept 
under constant review by the Invest to Earn Group.    

2. Background 
2.1 On 25th July 2017 Council approved the recommendations of a 

report entitled “Commercial Property Investment”. This agreed 
borrowing of up to £26.75m to implement the first tranche of the 
adopted Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy.  On 5th 



December 2017 Council approved increased borrowing of up to 
£37.45m and increased the flexibility of the approved strategy.

2.2 Since that decision was made, the Council has acquired three 
properties, at a total cost of £20m and these have delivered 
economic benefits to the Borough, LEP area and the wider South 
West Peninsula.  The ancillary income delivered has exceeded the 
budgeted amount for 2018/19.

2.3 Based on Invest to Earn group discussions, a new Commercial 
Property Strategy has been prepared and is shown in Appendix A.  
The current adopted strategy is shown in Appendix D.  This new 
strategy if approved will replace the existing strategy, but the 
delegated authorities would remain and transfer to enable the 
delivery of the new strategy.  The new strategy includes both 
commercial property acquisition as well as funding of commercial 
development on Council land.  This proposal is in line with the 
“Enterprise” corporate strategic aim of creating places for enterprise 
to thrive and business to grow.

2.4 In the period between now and the original July 2017 proposals, 
there have been changes to the rules and guidance around how 
Councils can use prudential borrowing.  The MHCLG (Government) 
guidance on Investments has stated that Councils will need to 
disclose several recommended indicators in their treasury 
management strategies going forward, for reports published after 1 
April 2018. The indicators that need to be disclosed after 1 April 
2018 include an indicator on proportionality. This indicator assesses 
the amount of debt an Authority holds in relation to its Net Service 
Expenditure (NSE). The purpose of this indicator is to allow the 
reader to assess how proportional a Council’s borrowing is, in 
relation to its Net Service Expenditure.

2.5 The Council has obtained independent advice on the amount of 
borrowing that would be acceptable for the Borough Council, based 
on the Council’s own financial status. This advice is confidential is 
therefore treated as an exempt appendix as it is the intellectual 
property of a third party. The indicators themselves will be public 
information when they are published. The advice has been analysed 
in order to inform the recommendations within this report and the 
Borrowing Strategy (and appropriate limits) for the Council within 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  Members can view this advice 
in Exempt Appendix B.  

2.6 As a result of this advice, it is recommended that the Council does 
not agree borrowing above £50m. As at the time of writing, the 
council has already taken on £26.285m of borrowing.  This leaves a 
further £23.715m available for the implementation of this strategy 
or any other borrowing requirement.

2.7 There are no Government guidelines on what is an acceptable level 
of proportionality (the proportion of borrowing as a factor of the 
Council’s Net Service Expenditure) and it is for each Council to 
assess this level themselves.  Proportionality is considered in the 
advice shown in Exempt Appendix B.



2.8 The Council will consider proportionality on a case by case basis for 
each borrowing decision as part of the decision making process, 
with information provided to the Investment group, the s151 
officer, the Head of Paid Service and the Leader of the Council.

2.9 Investment in Borough, for the stated aims of this strategy, funded 
through borrowing is entirely consistent with all published guidance 
for Councils.  Legal counsel has been undertaken as part of this 
process.  The legal powers by which the Council can implement this 
strategy have been confirmed.

3.0 Commercial Property Acquisition
3.1 The recommended strategy shown in Appendix A has been devised 

to give the Council, through delegated powers to the Invest to Earn 
Group, a clear set of criteria by which to appraise opportunities that 
arise.

3.2 As now, officers will provide the Invest to Earn Group with a set of 
data and an indicative cash flow for each project under 
investigation. These would inform Members and aid their decision 
making on whether to proceed or not.

3.3 In parallel, the Council’s Senior Leadership Team (SLT) are required 
to approve any bid or development.  Any project will be subject to 
Due Diligence and Legal Searches and occasionally other data as 
need arises.

3.4 For acquisitions, assuming the bid remains as per that authorised at 
the time of sign off, the final sign off prior to exchange and 
payment of deposit (typically 10%) is made by; Chairman of the 
Invest to Earn Group, the Leader of the Council, S151 officer and 
Head of Paid Service.  

3.5 This process of delegated authority (1st stage for the Invest to Earn 
Group to bid on a purchase and 2nd stage for the 4 persons in 3.4 to 
formally approve to exchange and complete on a purchase) is 
required because there is often very little time (a number of days) 
to secure a bid on a property, especially if it is off market.  Off 
market bids avoid price inflation caused by competing bidders.

3.6 The Invest to Earn Group should be aware that they will be required 
to process information in a very quick timeframe so as to provide 
their decision.  They will also be asked to attend meetings on 
similarly short notice.  These meetings may be held virtually to 
expedite decision making and substitutes can be nominated by the 
relevant parties, subject to discussion at the next Invest to Earn 
Group meeting.

4.0 Commercial Development

4.1 Commercial development in the context of this report refers to the 
development of commercial property on Council owned land, such 
as (by way of example only); the construction of a residential 
scheme in West Devon, where some properties would be let on an 
ongoing basis, some would be sold at open market levels and some 
would be sold at a discount to open market rate.



4.2 There are multiple projects being worked on by officers that meet 
the criteria set out in the strategy and it is proposed that the Invest 
to Earn Group and scheme of delegation be used to facilitate timely 
and critical appraisal and ultimately approval of these proposals, 
including the granting of associated leases in excess of 15 years 
(which ordinarily would need to be a Full Council decision).  Not all 
acquisition, development or housing projects currently being 
investigated by officers can be completed within the proposed 
borrowing limit. However, other financing methods are available 
which would deliver different financial outcomes.  Each acquisition 
or development decision will consider the most appropriate 
financing method and return on investment.

4.3 The information provided to the Invest to Earn Group will be similar 
for development projects, except that there will be additional risk 
analysis presented to include the construction phase of projects.  

5.0 What might success look like?  

5.1 The adoption of this strategy will facilitate inward investment in 
West Devon, promoting and fostering business development.  This 
will help achieve the “enterprise” corporate objective.  It will also 
help to stimulate and maintain investment within the wider South 
West Peninsula.

5.2 Whilst acquisition or development opportunities cannot be forecast, 
it is anticipated that two or three developments may meet the 
Council’s criteria within a year of approval.  Likely spend may 
therefore require a total of £18.5m of finance, generating a net 
income (after borrowing and acquisition costs) of £200k-£300k per 
annum (equivalent of a 1.1 – 1.6% yield after borrowing, 
management, maintenance and capital repayment costs).

5.3 Over a two year horizon, it is anticipated that commercial 
development should have started on one or more of the Council’s 
sites.  As a guide, each development may cost in the order of £5m - 
£10m.  Over a three – five year horizon, developments will have 
been concluded and entered the operational / income phase.  As a 
guide, a 1% net yield (after borrowing, management, maintenance 
and capital repayment costs) may be a reasonable assumption for 
development income, but there will be a variation between projects. 

5.4 It should be reiterated that the income derived from commercial 
development and some commercial acquisitions will be secondary to 
the economic and social benefit they will bring to West Devon and 
the strategy anticipates that outcome.  

5.5 Invest to Earn Group Members may opt to accept a net yield return 
of less than 1% if the benefits of job creation or safeguarding, 
tourism, town centre regeneration, business rate growth or 
effective asset utilisation are deemed more important by the Invest 
to Earn Group than a purely financial return. 

5.6 For illustrative purposes only, an example of the borrowing 
requirements for the Council are shown in Appendix C.



5.7 How each acquisition or development scheme is funded will be 
reviewed on a case by case basis. It is envisaged this will 
predominantly be funded through prudential borrowing or any other 
unallocated or available Council reserve or capital receipt, as 
determined by the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  

6.0 Options available and consideration of risk 

6.1 West Devon Borough Council is a business rates pilot area for 
2018/19, which sets out economic objectives of the pilot area.  This 
strategy would help deliver these objectives.  Each acquisition or 
development will be assessed on its fit with meeting the objectives 
stated above, on a case by case basis.

6.2 If the Council decides not to adopt the strategy as proposed, it 
should still be able to deliver some of its development ambitions, 
utilising the existing strategy and Council approval routes and 
committees.  

6.3 Members could opt to follow, amend or reject the 
recommendations.

6.4 Legal counsel has been undertaken as part of this process.  The 
legal powers by which the Council can implement this strategy set 
out in Section 8.0.  

6.5 The strategy looks to mitigate risks by setting specific criteria for 
purchases and necessary due diligence must be completed before 
officers and the Invest to Earn Group recommend any purchase. 

6.6 It should be recognised that there is an inherent tension between 
some of the objectives of this strategy.  For example, a decision to 
purchase or develop business units to lease to tenants will help 
achieve the first two objectives.  However, if the tenant defaults on 
its rent payments, the third objective would be at risk.

6.7 In contrast, purchasing a commercial building with an existing very 
strong tenant, could be seen to meet the first two objectives of the 
strategy less well, but would expose the Council to less financial 
risk.

6.8 Officers, working with their specialist advisors in the market will sift 
opportunities and only present to the Invest to Earn Group, 
opportunities that meet the strategy closely.  They will then lead 
the Invest to Earn Group into debate over the specific benefits and 
risks of each opportunity before the Invest to Earn Group make a 
decision.  In this way, risk will be transparent through the process.  

7.0 Proposed Way Forward 
7.1 It is proposed that if the Council approve this report’s 

recommendations, the new strategy will be adopted immediately.

7.2 Full Council will consider the borrowing limit for this Strategy as 
part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy on September 25th 
2018.  It is envisaged in December 2018, Council will consider 
approving a revised Treasury Management Strategy which would 
increase the borrowing limits of the Council, to facilitate 
implementation of this strategy.  As part of this report, the Council 



will also include the new proportionality indicators to address the 
Government guidance issued in February 2018.  

8.0 Implications
Implications Relevant 

to 
proposals 

Y/N

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/
Governance

Y Advice on the relevant powers and appropriate vehicles for 
delivering these proposals has been sought from external 
specialist advisers and legal counsel.  Legal counsel opinion has 
been obtained which sets out the various powers available to the 
Council, which supports the Council’s proposed strategy as 
described in this report. 

This proposal is consistent with the Council’s powers to borrow 
and invest under the Local Government Act 2003 and section 1 
Localism Act 2011 (the general power of competence) and / or 
section 120 Local Government Act 1972 (power to acquire land). 

The Council is empowered to buy pursuant to section 120 of the 
Local Government Act 1972. Section 1 of the Local Government 
Act 2003 provides a power to the Council to borrow for the 
purposes of any enactment.

Disposal of any of the acquired properties will have to be 
undertaken in accordance with the provisions of section 123 
Local Government Act 1972.

In order to lawfully implement the strategy, each proposal 
(including the borrowing strategy for purchases) should be 
reviewed as part of a decision to purchase or sell, and tested for 
value for money, and regulatory compliance. 

There is an overriding duty toward prudent management of risk, 
and officers, including the Council's section 151 officer owe a 
fiduciary duty in relation to given transactions. 

There is a duty on the Council to have regard to Statutory 
Guidance on Local (the New Guidance) Government 
Investments. As such, as part of the due diligence, officers’ 
consideration of each particular investment will need to include 
consideration of all the legal circumstances of the particular 
case.

Appendix B of this report is exempt from publication because it 
contains confidential information provided to the Council as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act 1972. 

The public interest test has been applied and it is considered 
that the public interest lies in not disclosing this report at this 
time because it contains commercially sensitive information 
which could prejudice the Council if such information was 
disclosed at this time.

Financial Y Approving this amended Commercial Property Strategy does not 
create an immediate direct financial impact.  However, decisions 
made as a result of the strategy’s adoption, alongside an 
approval of a revised treasury management strategy, could 
result in the Council taking on upto £50m of borrowing; whereas 
the currently approved total borrowing is £37.45m, plus the 



existing borrowing commitments of £2.1m for Kilworthy Park, 
£2.65m for Waste and £1.5m for Leisure, £43.7m in total.  This 
is an overall increase in commitment of £6.3m.

The Council will purchase assets, or develop existing assets and 
hold these directly on its balance sheet and therefore the direct 
costs of purchase and acquisition or development can be 
capitalised.  This will include costs such as stamp duty, legal 
fees, construction, planning, due diligence and agency fees. 

When individual purchase decisions or asset developments are 
made, a bespoke business case will be produced alongside a 
package of due diligence information to support the decision 
making process.  The delegated authorities approving a 
purchase will need to be satisfied that any proposed acquisition 
not only delivers best value but also meets the criteria contained 
within the Commercial Property Strategy and has proper regard 
to how the acquisition or development meets the Council’s 
multiple objectives of the strategy.  

Any PWLB borrowing to fund the acquisition of commercial 
property is not secured on the property acquired.  

PWLB borrowing rates are fixed for the term of the loan.  
Individual borrowing decisions will be taken prudently in line 
with the Council’s treasury management strategy and by officers 
within that function.  The Council would need to approve a 
revised Treasury Management Strategy which would increase 
the borrowing limits of the Council, to facilitate implementation 
of the strategy.

The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code Of Practice for 
Treasury Management and produces an Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy and Investment Strategy in accordance 
with CIPFA guidelines.

Risk Y The security risk is that the capital value of an acquired or 
developed property falls.  Whilst this would have an effect on 
the Council’s balance sheet, this loss will be realised if the 
Council chooses to sell the property and incurs a capital loss.  
The liquidity risk is the risk of failure of a tenant within one of 
the acquired or developed properties.  

The yield risk is that the ancillary income derived from the 
assets will alter during the life of the asset.  This will be actively 
managed; with specialist agents commissioned to manage the 
asset and its tenants.  Properties will only be acquired if they 
have a minimum of 5 years unexpired lease term and are 
located in areas deemed to be attractive for future lettings / 
sales, limiting the risk to the Council’s portfolio. 

The Council now owns and operates a property estate valued at 
circa £40m.  It therefore has experience of managing such an 
estate and can act as an intelligent client to fulfil the proposed 
strategy, with the aid of commissioned property experts.  The 
cost of these experts has been included in the financial 
projections from this strategy.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 

Diversity N Not Applicable



Safeguarding N Not Applicable
Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

N Not Applicable 

Health, 
Safety and 
Wellbeing

N Not Applicable

Other 
implications N Not Applicable 

Supporting Information

Appendices:
Appendix A – Recommended Commercial Property Strategy 
Appendix B – Exempt Appendix B West Devon Benchmarking Report
Appendix C – Illustrative Borrowing Requirements for WDBC
Appendix D – Currently Adopted Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy

Background Papers:
 Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy Update, presented to Council March 

27th, 2017

 Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy Update, presented to Council 
December 5th, 2017

 Investment in Commercial Property, presented to Council July 25th 2017

 Investment in Commercial Property, presented to Hub Committee June 20th 
2017

 Statutory Guidance On Local Government Investments  (3rd Edition) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil
e/678866/Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pdf

 Proposed Changes To The Prudential Framework Of Capital Finance 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-
prudential-framework-of-capital-finance

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/678866/Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/678866/Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance




Appendix A – WDBC Commercial Property Strategy

This strategy, when adopted, replaces the Council’s Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy which 
was approved March 2018. 

Overall Objectives:
The Council’s commercial property strategy has multiple objectives as stated below:
 To support regeneration and the economic activity of the Borough, the LEP area and the South 

West Peninsula (in that priority order)
 To enhance economic benefit & create business rates growth
 To assist with the financial sustainability of the Council as an ancillary benefit
 To help the Council continue to deliver and/or improve frontline services in line with the Council’s 

adopted strategy & objectives.

Desired Outcomes:

The following outcomes are desired by the application of this strategy.  Each acquisition or 
development opportunity will be assessed on its fit with meeting the objectives stated above and 
should deliver one or more of the following outcomes (benefits):

 Job creation or safeguarding
 Health & Wellbeing
 Town centre regeneration
 Tourism / Increased footfall
 Business rate growth 
 Improved asset utilisation
 A minimum Net yield of 1% 

This strategy will be achieved by acquisitions and developments within the South West Peninsula.  
This will include the focussed acquisition of existing commercial property assets and the 
development of new properties which are to be let to third parties.  

Risk
 The risks of acquiring property may be mitigated through the acquisition of assets with secure, 

long income streams, although this risk will be weighed up against the social and economic 
benefits of acquisitions to support commerce and trade in the Borough and the wider South West 
Peninsula

 Acquisitions are to be made in a careful and controlled manner, with specific analysis of risk 
criteria carried out in the ‘due diligence’ stage prior to the completion of each purchase

 The portfolio will be relatively risk-averse, targeting tenants of strong financial standing and 
minimum unexpired lease terms of four years at the date of acquisition.  However, these criteria 
will be considered on a case by case basis and can be outweighed in order to meet the strategy 
objectives

Location:
 Wherever opportunities arise within the peninsula, in order to acquire good properties which 

deliver the Council’s multiple objectives stated above and are deemed an acceptable risk.

Tenant mix:
 Where possible, a mix of tenants will be sought to create a balanced portfolio

 The final decision over the appropriateness of any tenant would be reviewed at the time of 
acquisition



 WDBC owns a significant number of commercial units already within the borough, mainly smaller 
units and tenants with relatively low credit ratings.  This reflects the historic policy of supporting 
small start-ups which has proved successful and continues to be.  Newer acquisitions are likely to 
be for larger units which may have single tenant occupancy. 

Lease length:
 A minimum 4 years unexpired (mean unexpired term for multi-let properties) is preferable, 

however this is flexible if it helps achieve the strategy objectives

 For multi-let properties, a mix of lease expiry dates are preferred, thereby limiting void risk 
(unless the property is purchased with a view to re-development)

 Properties would preferably be let to sound tenants on leases with a preference for ‘Full 
Repairing and Insuring’ leases for single occupiers and through internal repair obligations and a 
service charge for multi-let properties.  There may be overriding economic reasons to move away 
from this position and these will be considered on a case by case basis.

For all of the above:
The final decision over the definition of “good”, “secure”, “strong”, “long”, “careful”, “controlled”, 
“acceptable”, “balanced” and “risk-averse” will be agreed between the property acquisition advisers 
(including legal due diligence) and the individuals delegated with the responsibility to conclude the 
acquisition of the properties.  This discretion will be based on both the risk to the capital value of the 
asset and its’ fit with the strategy objectives. 

Yield:
 The Council will only acquire properties where the running cost does not require Council subsidy.  

Per acquisition, a minimum net yield (an ancillary benefit) of 1.0% is to be sought, after 
acquisition, management, maintenance, capital repayment and funding costs.  However, the 
Council may opt to accept a net yield return of less than 1% if the benefits of job creation or 
safeguarding, tourism, town centre regeneration, business rate growth or effective asset 
utilisation are deemed more important than a purely financial return.    

Value & Cost:
 Acquisitions and development initiatives will be funded using predominantly borrowing or any 

other unallocated or available Council reserve or capital receipt.  

 The Hub Committee and Full Council will consider the borrowing limit for the Strategy as part of 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy in September 2018.  It is envisaged in December 2018, the 
Council will need to approve a revised Treasury Management Strategy which would increase the 
borrowing limits of the Council (depending on the recommendations from the various bodies), to 
facilitate implementation of this strategy.  As part of this report, the Council will also include the 
new proportionality indicators to address the Government guidance issued in February 2018.

 Larger lot sizes are favoured - smaller size properties have disproportionately higher 
management costs and expose the Council to greater property void risks, but the economic and 
trade benefits of buying smaller units may outweigh this.

 Acquisition costs are forecast not to exceed 7% (Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) / Legal / Agents / 
Due Diligence).  These costs are to be contained within the overall strategy budget

Funding:
 This is to be secured on a case by case basis on the most commercially advantageous terms 

available predominantly through borrowing or any other unallocated or available Council reserve 
or capital receipt



 The term will not exceed the expected remaining life of the property, but as a rule, the Council 
wishes to secure borrowing over a maximum 50 year term.  Capital repayments will seek to repay 
a minimum of 50% of the capital value of any acquired property.

Tax Implications:
 Due to the Council holding the asset, it is not anticipated that there will be any corporation tax or 

income tax implications from this strategy

 Some properties may be VAT elected, meaning VAT must be charged to tenants. This will be dealt 
with on a case by case basis and will be covered by the due diligence connected with that 
acquisition. The Council is able to charge and recover VAT

 Capital Gains Tax would not apply to assets sold from Council ownership. This position may 
change if a company were to be used to hold the acquired asset.

Exit Strategy:
 The Council is not looking to actively trade commercial property within the first 5 years of 

ownership of any acquired property, however this is flexible if required to meet this strategy’s 
objectives

 If it is determined that the most prudent action is to sell an individual asset, this will be 
considered on a case by case basis and will be acted upon in consultation with the ‘Invest to Earn’ 
Chair, Leader of the Council, S151 officer and Head of Paid Service

 It is proposed that all properties will be held as Council Assets. This may change if the Council 
were to set-up a trading company and it was found to be commercially advantageous for such a 
vehicle to hold the asset

 It is important to note that there would be early repayment charges if borrowing used to acquire 
a commercial property were to be repaid before the end of the loan term. However, Public Works 
Loan Board (PWLB) lending is not secured against property, so would not inhibit the asset being 
traded during the loan period.  An alternative asset could be purchased (& held) with any sale 
receipt.

Governance Arrangements:

Acquisitions & Developments
Acquisitions and developments must conform to the adopted commercial property strategy.  Any 
deviation from the agreed strategy will require Council approval.  

Specialists will be commissioned to act on behalf of the Council to source suitable properties and 
manage the acquisition due diligence process.

Delegated authority to be given to the Head of Paid Service, in consultation with the S151 officer, 
Leader of the Council and Chair of the ‘Invest to Earn’ (or their deputy).  Each receive one vote to 
proceed with purchase. In the event of a split decision, the S151 officer has the casting vote.  

The Council will consider proportionality on a case by case basis for each acquisition as part of the 
decision making process, with information provided to the Invest to Earn Members, the s151 officer, 
the Head of Paid Service and the Leader of the Council.

Before a final decision to proceed with a development or acquisition is made, if applicable, local 
ward members will be briefed and be able to share their views with the Invest to Earn Group.

The ‘Invest to Earn’ Group will determine its chair and will receive details of potential purchases 
from the Assets CoP. They will vote on whether to bring a potential purchase decision to the Head of 
Paid Service.



The same governance arrangements will be used to approve capital expenditure relating to any 
development projects and the subsequent granting of leases in excess of 15 years as recommended 
by the Assets CoP Lead, on a project by project basis.

Running / Review
If the management of the acquired assets cannot be managed in-house by existing resources, it will 
be outsourced to property professionals. The cost of this management is to be deducted before 
calculating the net yield.  The Invest to Earn Group will receive regular reporting to confirm portfolio 
composition and performance. Regular reporting to Audit Committee as required.

Disposal
Once acquired, decisions relating to the ownership of any acquired properties will be dealt with in-
line with the Council’s constituted scheme of delegation.

Disposal will be considered if the portfolio breaches the approved strategy. Decisions to be made in 
consultation with the ‘Invest to Earn’ Group Chair, Leader of the Council, S151 officer and Head of 
Paid Service.

Resources:
The work to filter, appraise and recommend investment and development opportunities will be 
undertaken within the Assets CoP.  This will be supplemented by specific consultant advice as 
required and associated costs built into the business case for each project.  The Assets CoP has 
strong relationships with a number of local and national consultants who will be required to support 
the projects.  Examples of this include (but are not limited to):  CCD Properties (development 
specialists), Arcadis (building technical due diligence), Womble Bond Dickinson (legal due diligence) 
and Savills (commercial property investment advice).







Appendix C - Illustrative WDBC Borrowing Requirements

Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy WDBC Comment
Okehampton 3,600,000     
Bristol 12,690,000  
Exeter 3,745,000     
Sub - Total Commercial Properties 20,035,000  

Asset Developments
Project 1 8,710,000     
Project 2 8,910,000     
Project 3 890,000        
Project 4 TBA
Project 5* 2,552,200     
Sub- Total Asset Developments 21,062,200  

Other
Waste 2,650,000     
Kilworthy Park 2,100,000     
Leisure 1,500,000     
Community Led Housing* 6,500,000     Short term (1yr) only to cover construction
Community Housing Rental 1,000,000     Long term borrowing for affordable rent
Sub - Total 'Other' 13,750,000  

TOTAL BORROWING REQUIREMENT 54,847,200  NB: This is in excess of the total limit proposed.  Not all of these projects could be completed.  Other financing methods would be required
*Housing Development / Acquisition GROSS requirement, before any sale receipts

Borrowing already taken out (in yellow) 26,285,000  
Total Borrowing Limit 50,000,000  
Available for Acquisition / Development 23,715,000  





Appendix D – WDBC Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy (Adopted March 2018)

Overall Objectives:
The Council’s commercial property acquisition strategy has multiple objectives as stated below:

 To help the Council continue to deliver and/or improve frontline services in line with the Council’s 
adopted strategy & objectives

 To support regeneration and the economic activity of the Borough, the LEP area and the South 
West Peninsula (in that priority order)

 To enhance economic benefit/business rates growth
 To assist with the financial sustainability of the Council through yield being an ancillary benefit.

West Devon Borough Council is a business rates pilot area for 2018/19, which sets out the economic 
objectives of the pilot area.

Each acquisition will be assessed on its fit with meeting the objectives stated above, on a case by 
case basis.

This strategy will be achieved by the focussed acquisition of existing commercial property assets 
using predominantly prudential borrowing or any other unallocated or available Council reserve or 
capital receipt.

The strategy criteria below are based on an overall spend profile of £75m + costs, recognising that 
approval has only been granted for an initial tranche of £35m + costs.

Strategy
 To achieve the overall multiple objectives as set out above

 Achieve a spread of risk across a greater number of assets and by acquiring properties across a 
range of different property asset classes, namely retail, office, industrial or alternative (e.g. 
leisure, health, private rented sector, energy)

 Properties will be acquired to hold for the short to medium term rather than to dispose

 The Council will acquire properties where the ancillary yield benefit delivers sufficient income to 
fund the initiative, with a minimum gross yield target of 5.85% across the portfolio (once 
completed)

 Acquisition costs are forecast not to exceed 7% (Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) / Legal / Agents / 
Due Diligence). These services are to be commissioned via a procurement exercise.

 Management of the acquired assets will be outsourced to property professionals where 
appropriate. The cost of this management is to be included within the target return

 The legal work required to complete transactions may be outsourced

 Specialists will be commissioned to act on behalf of the Council to source suitable properties and 
manage the acquisition due diligence process

Risk
 The risks of acquiring property may be mitigated through the acquisition of assets with secure, 

long income streams

 Acquisitions are to be made in a careful and controlled manner, with specific analysis of risk 
criteria carried out in the ‘due diligence’ stage prior to the completion of each purchase

 Should the portfolio yield drop below 5.85%, a review of the strategy will be triggered in terms of 
value for money



 The portfolio of properties being acquired should be diversified in order to spread risks via a 
balanced portfolio, such diversification principally being across geographical locations and the 
use type of properties

 The portfolio will be relatively risk-averse, when appropriate, limiting fresh acquisitions to 
properties with minimum unexpired lease terms of four years at the date of acquisition, and 
tenants of strong financial standing

The final decision over the definition of “good”, “strong”, “spread”, “balanced”, “prime”, “well-
let” and “sound” will be agreed between the property acquisition advisers (including legal due 
diligence) and the individuals delegated with the responsibility to conclude the acquisition of the 
properties.  This discretion will be based on both the risk to the capital value of the asset and its 
revenue returns. 

Initially, acquisition decisions will be taken as long as they fit within the below criteria:

Location:
 Wherever opportunities arise in order to acquire good properties which deliver the Council’s 

multiple objectives stated above and are deemed an acceptable risk

 Acquisitions will seek not to over expose the Council to one particular geographical area - As the 
portfolio gets larger, a mix of locations will be sought to create a balanced portfolio

 Good, commercially strong locations to protect capital value and ensure ongoing occupier 
demand, E.g. for retail - good out-of-town retail clusters/parks; for offices - close to transport 
infrastructure and catchment for employees; for industrial - close to major road / rail hubs

Sector:
 Neutral – Wherever opportunities arise in order to acquire good properties which deliver the 

Council’s multiple objectives and are deemed an acceptable risk

 As the portfolio gets larger, a mix of sectors will be sought to create a balanced portfolio

Tenant mix:
 As the portfolio gets larger, a mix of tenants will be sought to create a balanced portfolio

 The final decision over the appropriateness of any tenant would be reviewed at the time of 
acquisition

Lease length:
 Minimum 4 years unexpired (mean unexpired term for multi-let properties)

 Unless the property is being purchased with a view to redevelopment or the property is located 
in a prime location, or let to a strong covenant, single-let properties will not be favoured

 For multi-let properties, a mix of lease expiry dates are preferred, thereby limiting void risk 
(unless the property is purchased with a view to re-development)

 Properties are to be well-let to sound tenants on leases with a preference for ‘Full Repairing and 
Insuring’ leases for single occupiers and through internal repair obligations and a service charge 
for multi-let properties



Yield:
 Per lot, a minimum gross yield of 4.0% is envisaged, before management, maintenance and 

funding costs

 A maximum gross yield in excess of 11% will not normally be sought

 As the portfolio gets larger, a mix of yields will create a balanced portfolio

 It is envisaged that the yield (an ancillary benefit) will average 5.85%

Cost:
 Larger lot sizes are favoured - smaller size properties have disproportionately higher 

management costs and expose the Council to greater property void risks

 All acquisitions will normally be subject to a minimum lot size of £2m

For all of the above, flexibility of +/- 15% (relative to the measure) is allowable in order to 
conclude a deal without recourse to reviewing the terms of this strategy. The overall budget for 

acquisitions is not subject to this flexibility.

Funding:
 This is to be secured on a case by case basis on the most favourable terms available 

predominantly through prudential borrowing or any other unallocated or available Council 
reserve or capital receipt

 The term will not exceed the expected remaining life of the property, but as a rule, the Council 
wishes to secure borrowing over a maximum 50 year term

 The Council will opt to borrow monies on the most commercially advantageous terms, seeking 
advice from its retained Treasury Management Advisors

Exit Strategy:
 The Council is acquiring to hold for the short to medium term. It is not looking to actively trade 

commercial property in this timeframe

 If capital values determine that the most prudent action is to sell an individual asset, this will be 
considered on a case by case basis and will be acted upon in consultation with the ‘Invest to Earn’ 
group Chair, Leader, S151 officer and Head of Paid Service

 It is proposed that all properties will be held as Council Assets. This may change if the Council 
were to set-up an arms-length management organisation (ALMO) or trading company and it was 
found to be commercially advantageous for such a vehicle to hold the asset

 It is important to note that there would be early repayment charges if the loan used to acquire 
the commercial property were to be repaid before the end of the loan term. However, Public 
Works Loan Board (PWLB) lending is not secured against property, so this would not inhibit the 
asset being traded during the loan period. An alternative asset could be purchased (& held) with 
any sale proceeds

Tax Implications:
 Due to the Council holding the asset, it is not anticipated that there will be any corporation tax or 

income tax implications from this strategy

 Some properties may be VAT elected, meaning VAT must be charged to tenants. This will be dealt 
with on a case by case basis and will be covered by the due diligence connected with that 
acquisition. The Council is able to charge and recover VAT



 Capital Gains Tax would not apply to assets sold from Council ownership. This position may 
change if a company were to be used to hold the acquired asset

Governance Arrangements:

Purchase
Purchases must conform to the adopted commercial property acquisition strategy. Any deviation 
from the agreed strategy (beyond the flexibility parameters) will require Council approval.

Delegated authority to be given to the Head of Paid Service, in consultation with the S151 officer and
Leader and Chair of the ‘Invest to Earn’ group (or their deputy).  Each receive one vote to proceed 
with purchase. In the event of a split decision, the S151 officer has the casting vote. Only purchases 
which are in line with the agreed strategy will be considered by this group.  

The Council will consider proportionality on a case by case basis for each acquisition as part of the 
decision making process, with information provided to the Invest to Earn Member group, the s151 
officer, the Head of Paid Service and the Leader of the Council.

The ‘Invest to Earn’ group will determine its chair and will receive details of potential purchases from 
the Assets CoP. They will vote on whether to bring a potential purchase decision to the Head of Paid 
Service.

Running / Review
Unless located within the Borough, assets will most likely be managed by a contracted third party, 
with overview by the Assets CoP, Group Manager, Business Development and the S151 officer. 
Invest to Earn group to receive regular reporting to confirm portfolio composition and performance. 
Regular reporting to Audit Committee.

Disposal
Once acquired, decisions relating to the ownership of any acquired properties will be dealt with in-
line with the Council’s constituted scheme of delegation.

Disposal will be considered if the portfolio breaches the approved strategy. Decisions to be made in 
consultation with the ‘Invest to Earn’ group Chair, Leader, S151 officer and Head of Paid Service.



Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 11 September 2018

Title: Quarter 1 Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2018/2019

Portfolio Area: Support Services – Cllr C Edmonds

Wards Affected: All

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Author: Alex Walker Role: Finance Business Partner

Contact: Tel. 01803 861345                                                           
E-mail: alexandra.walker@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  

It is recommended that the Hub Committee resolves:-

To note the forecast income and expenditure variations for the 2018/19 
financial year and the overall projected underspend of £19,000.

1. Executive summary 

1) This report enables Members to monitor income and expenditure 
variations against the approved budget for 2018/19, and provides a 
forecast for the year end position.

2. Background 

1) The Council’s finance procedure rules require budget monitoring reports 
to be made on a regular basis to the Hub Committee as part of the 
Council’s arrangements for budget management.

3. Outcomes/outputs 

1) Budget Overview
The gross service expenditure budget for 2018/19 was set at £25.2 
million (£7.31 million net). The actual net revenue expenditure is 
forecast to be under budget by £19,000 when compared against 
the total budget set for 2018/19. 



3.1 Table 1 below provides an analysis of the projected variances against 
budget.

          TABLE 1: 2018/19 BUDGET FORECAST

                                                                       2018/19
Budget 

expenditure
/(Income)

Budget variations Note

£000 % £000 £000
APPROVED BUDGET 7,314
Reductions in 
expenditure/additional 
income
Customer First
Planning income (333) (10.5%) (35) A
Strategy & 
Commissioning
Senior Leadership Team – 
Interim Arrangements

195 (17.4%) (34) B

Financing and 
Investment
Commercial Property net 
investment income

(100) (90.0%) (90) C

Sub total of variations         (159)         

Increases in 
expenditure/reductions 
in income
Commercial Services
Car Parking income (1,006) 4.0% 40 D
Support Services
ICT costs – support 
contracts

300 28.3% 85 E

Financing and 
Investment
Investment income (90) 16.7% 15 F
Sub total of variations 140

PROJECTED OUTTURN 7,295

PROJECTED 
UNDERSPEND 

    (19)

Notes

A. Planning income – additional planning income of £35,000 is 
currently anticipated for 2018/19 which equates to 10.5% of the 
income target of £333,000.



B. Senior Leadership Team – following the approval of the Senior 
Leadership Team interim arrangements by Council in December 
2017 a saving of £34,000 (WDBC’s share) is anticipated in 
2018/19.

C. Commercial Property net investment income – the commercial 
property strategy was implemented in April 2018 and three 
commercial properties have been purchased to date in 2018/19. 
This is anticipated to generate an additional £90,000 net income in 
2018/19 (in addition to the £100,000 budgeted). The Council is 
formulating a comprehensive portfolio monitoring report on the 
Council’s commercial investments and this is currently being 
developed in consultation with Members of the Invest to Earn 
Group. 

D. Car parking income – a shortfall in car parking income of £40,000 
is currently projected. This equates to 4% of the income target 
(£1,006,000). This budget includes additional income for 2018/19 
to reflect an increase in the all day long stay tariff from £2.00 to 
£2.50. As the new charges were not implemented until 2 July 2018, 
following the consultation period, a small income shortfall is 
anticipated in 2018/19. 

E. ICT support contract costs – There are additional recurring costs 
in respect of ICT support contracts of approximately £85,000. The 
ICT budget was set assuming that the Civica solutions introduced 
by the T18 Transformation Programme would perform as required.  
In practice, additional solutions were procured in order to maintain 
services where using the Civica solution was not practical. Purchase 
of the following systems, which were previously unbudgeted for, 
was required:

 Northgate Land Charges
 Clear Core Clear Core (enables single customer record) 
 IEG4 Revenues and Benefits to facilitate “My Account” for 

customers
 Northgate Gazeteer – address database
 IEG4 software – Automatic processing of changes of 

circumstances for revenues

F. Investment income – a shortfall in investment income of 
£15,000 is currently anticipated for 2018/19.

2) Savings/Additional Income identified in the 2018/19 Budget 
Future monitoring reports will include an updated schedule of the savings 
and additional income that were identified in the 2018/19 budget setting 
process, confirming further details on their delivery. This schedule was 
presented as part of the Medium Term Financial Position for 2019/20 
onwards (Appendix F) at Hub Committee on 17 July 2018.



4. Management Actions

The table below sets out the relevant management actions for the 
revenue expenditure and income variations shown above. It is best 
practice for the Council to state whether there are any corrective actions 
that need to be taken for the variances identified in 2018/19.

                                                                       Budget 
variations 

overspend/
(underspend) Management Action

£000
Reductions in 
expenditure/additional 
income
Planning income (35) £25,000 additional income has 

been built into the 2019/20 
budget.

Senior Leadership Team – 
Interim Arrangements

(34) During 2019/20 the Council will 
be reviewing its senior 
leadership team structure 
across both Councils and 
presenting options to Members 
for a decision within the first six 
months of the new Council.

Commercial Property net 
investment income

       (90) The Council is formulating a 
comprehensive portfolio 
monitoring report on the 
Council’s commercial 
investments and this is 
currently being developed in 
consultation with Members of 
the Invest to Earn Group.

Car parking income 40 Income levels will be kept 
under review in 2018/19.

ICT costs 85 £95,000 has been built into the 
2019/20 budget as a cost 
pressure.

Investment income 15 This will be kept under review 
during 2018/19.

5. Prudential Indicators

The prudential code indicators were approved in the Treasury 
Management Strategy report to the Audit Committee on 20 March 
2018. The indicators are monitored during the year through the 
normal revenue and capital monitoring processes. Any exceptions are 



reported to the Audit Committee. To date all Treasury Management 
limits have been adhered to. The Treasury Management Indicators 
set out the level of predicted capital expenditure and borrowing 
requirements.

6. Review of Earmarked Reserves

The Council annually undertakes a review of the level of its 
Earmarked Reserves as part of the budget setting process. A 
schedule of Earmarked Reserves is attached at Appendix A with their 
proposed use.

As the accounting entries can be identified at an early stage, a   
recommendation is made to Council to agree the accounting entries 
in 2018/19. Only Council can approve the use of Earmarked 
Reserves.

7. Income and Reserves

Income monitoring is an integral part of financial management. 
Current income forecasts are as follows:

Service Actual 
Income 

2017/18

£’000

Income
Budget

2018/19

£’000

Projected
Income

2018/19

£’000

Deficit/
(Surplus)

£’000

Deficit/
(Surplus)

%
Car Parks 860 1,006 966 40 4.0%
Employment 
Estates

343 290 290 - -

Land Charges 95 110 110 - -
Planning 
Applications

314 333 368 (35) (10.5%)

Recycling Credits 260 265 265 - -
Investment 
Income

58 90 75 15 16.7%

Commercial 
Property gross 
rental income – 
Note A

- 480 910 (430) (89.6%)

TOTAL 1,930 2,574 2,984 (410)

Note A
The commercial property income figures above relate to the gross rental 
income for 2018/19. The favourable income variance included in the 
monitoring report of £90,000 is a net figure anticipated for 2018/19 after 
deducting all relevant costs from the rental income.



The decision on the level of balances and reserves is taken during the 
formulation of the annual budget and the medium term financial strategy. 
As a matter of prudence the Council has set aside various amounts in 
reserves to cover future liabilities and items of expenditure and these are 
attached as Appendix A.

8. Issues that may impact on the budget monitoring position in 
the next 3 months/Risks

The budget monitoring position assumes that collection rates will remain 
at previous levels. 

9.  Proposed Way Forward 

1) Revenue budget monitoring will continue on a regular basis and further 
reports will be brought to the Hub Committee on a quarterly basis.

10. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y The Statutory Powers that apply to this report are 
the Local Government Act 1972 Section 151 and 
the Local Government Act 2003 Section 28.

Financial Y The report identifies an overall underspend of 
£19,000 which equates to 0.3% of the overall 
budget set for 2018/19 of £7.314 million.

Risk Y Budget variances – continual budget monitoring at 
all levels within the Council ensures early 
identification of variances. Reporting to the Hub 
Committee provides an opportunity for Members to 
identify and instigate remedial action where 
appropriate. 

1) Resource Planning – the Hub Committee takes 
into account any significant issues when developing 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.

2) These are identified in the Management Actions 
section of the report (Section 4).

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

None directly arising from this report.  

Safeguarding None directly arising from this report.



Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

None directly arising from this report.

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

None directly arising from this report.

Other 
implications

None directly arising from this report.

Supporting Information

Appendix A – Reserves.

Background Papers:
Finance Community of Practice budget monitoring working papers
Medium Term Financial Position 2019/20 onwards – HUB Committee 17 July 
2018.

Approval and clearance of report

Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed Yes
SLT Rep briefed Yes
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes
Data protection issues considered Yes
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny)

N/A





APPENDIX  A

RESERVES - PROJECTED BALANCES 

Opening Additions Predicted Projected

balance to the spend balance

1.4.2018 Reserve 31.3.2019 31.3.2019 Comments

£000s £000s £000s £000s

EARMARKED RESERVES

 

Specific Reserves - General Fund

Business Rates Retention Scheme (509) 0 0 (509)

This relates to a timing issue on the accounting adjustments 

required for the localisation of business rates. This reserve 

also deals with any volatility in Business Rate income e.g. due 

to appeals. 

Car Parking Maintenance (386) 0 175 (211)
Commitment relates to statutory tree work (£25,000) and 

Brook Street Car Park (£150,000).

2016/17 Budget Surplus Contingency (382) 0 148 (234)

This is the Budget Surplus from 2016/17 which was put into an 

Earmarked Reserve. Commitment of £76,000 relates to the 

balance of the JSG funding and £65,000 capital funding

Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) (724) 0 285 (439)
Commitment relates to purchase of land & survey Costs, 

Okehampton £279,000, Lottery set up costs £6,500 

T18 Strategic Change (287) (10) 90 (207)

To meet redundancy and pension strain costs (one off 

investment costs funded by savings) from the T18 

Transformation Programme.

Cannons Meadow, Tavistock (13) 0 3 (10) Written down to revenue annually

Elections (24) 0 0 (24)

Neighbourhood Planning Grants (47) 0 0 (47)

Economic Grant Initiatives (23) 0 0 (23)

Flood Works (15) 0 0 (15)

Homelessness Prevention (95) 0 0 (95)

New Homes Bonus (225) (730) 709 (246)
Commitment includes £500,000 to fund the 2018/19 Revenue 

budget and £199,000 for the Capital Programme 

Planning Policy and Major Developments (44) (55) 79 (20) Joint Local Plan Funding transferred to a separate reserve

Invest to Save (27) 0 0 (27)

ICT Development (30) (25) 9 (46)

There is a recommendation in the IT Procurement report to the 

September Hub Committee which, if approved, would commit 

the balance on this reserve.
Waste & Cleansing Options Review (80) 0 0 (80) To cover the cost of procurement and waste initiatives

Community Housing Fund (243) 0 0 (243)

Leisure Services (231) 0 174 (57) Leisure Centre investment

Maintenance Fund (Estates) (223) 0 0 (223)

Revenue Grants (220) 0 0 (220)

Support Services Trading Opportunities (8) 0 0 (8)

Grounds Maintenance (49) 0 0 (49)

Outdoor Sports & Recreation Grants (18) 0 0 (18)

Environmental Health (20) 0 0 (20)

Section 106 Monitoring (19) 0 0 (19)

Joint Local Plan 0 (86) 86 0 New reserve for Joint Local Plan Funding

Other Reserves below £15,000 (73) 0 0 (73)

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES (4,015) (906) 1,758 (3,163)

TOTAL UNEARMARKED RESERVES (1,197) (19) 0 (1,216) Projected underspend of £19,000 for 2018/19

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES                                

(EARMARKED AND UNEARMARKED 

RESERVES)

(5,212) (925) 1,758 (4,379)





Report to: Hub Committee

Date: 11 September 2018

Title: Write Off Report

Portfolio Area: Support Services – Cllr Edmonds 

Wards Affected: All

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:  Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Author: Lisa Buckle Role: Section 151 Officer

Contact: Ext. 3644   lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  

That Hub Committee RESOLVES to:

1. Notes that in accordance with Financial Regulations, the s151 Officer 
has authorised the write-off of individual West Devon Borough Council 
debts totalling £27,950.96 as detailed in Tables 1 and 2; and

2. Approves the write off of individual debts in excess of £5,000 totalling 
£26,564.80 as detailed in Table 3.

1. Executive summary 

The Council is responsible for the collection of: Sundry Debts including 
Housing Benefit Overpayments, Council Tax and National Non-Domestic 
Rates.   

The report informs members of the debt written off for these revenue 
streams.  Debts up to the value of £5,000 being written off by the s151 
Officer, under delegated authority.  Permission needs to be sought from 
the Committee to write off individual debts with a value of more than 
£5,000.              

This report covers the period 1st April 2018 to 30th June 2018.

2. Background 



The Council’s sound financial management arrangements underpin 
delivery of all the Councils priorities, including the commitment to 
providing value for money services. 

This report forms part of the formal debt write-off procedures included 
in these financial arrangements.

West Devon Borough Council’s collection rates for 2017/18 were; 
Council Tax 97.6% & Business Rates 98.0%.

In the first quarter of 2018/19 the Council has collected £11.8 million in 
Council Tax and £3.4 million in Business Rates. The total collectable 
debt for 2018/19 (as at 30th June) for Council Tax is £39.3 million and 
for Business Rates is £11.0 million.

Debts are recovered in accordance with the Council’s Recovery Policy 
which is published on our website.

3. Outcomes/outputs 

In accordance with good financial management principles the Council 
has, for the revenue streams detailed in this report, made a total bad 
debt provision of £2,486,471.14.  This provision recognises that a 
proportion of the Authority’s debts will prove irrecoverable and ensures 
that the value of debtors within the Authority’s accounts is a fair 
reflection of the amount that will eventually be recovered. 

All debts, taxes and rates within the Service’s control are actively 
pursued, and in most instances are collected with little difficulty.  In 
cases where payment is not received on time, a reminder will be issued 
promptly to the debtor.  If this fails to secure payment, a final reminder 
and/or a summons will also be issued and if necessary the debt passed 
to an appropriate collection agent such as the Civil Enforcement Agents 
or the Council’s Legal Department in order to secure payment.  

Sometimes, however, if the debtor is having difficulty making the 
payment, special arrangements are used to effect recovery, and this 
may mean extending the period of time to collect the debt.

In some cases pursuit of an outstanding debt is not possible for a 
variety of reasons, such as bankruptcy or liquidation and such cases 
with arrears under £5,000 are written off by the Section 151 Officer 
under delegated authority.  Cases where the debt exceeds £5,000 
must, however, be approved by the Committee prior to the debt being 
written off.
 
A record is kept of debts written off, together with the reason for doing 
so, so that if there is a realistic chance of recovery in the future a debt 
may be resurrected and pursued again.

The Service has access to Experian’s Citizenview database which is 
currently the most reliable means of tracing absconded debtors.  Each 



case is checked against this system before a decision is taken to write 
off the debt. A periodic review of write offs against this system may 
also be carried out to resurrect debts where appropriate.

4. Options available and consideration of risk 

5. Proposed Way Forward 

The Committee approves the write off of individual debts in excess of 
£5,000 as detailed in Table 3.

6. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address

Legal/Governance The relevant powers for this report are contained 
within the following legislation;
          
Section 151 Local Government Act 1972
Section 44 Local Government Finance Act 1988 
(Non Domestic Rate)
Section 14 Local Government Finance Act 1992 
(Council Tax)

Financial West Devon Borough Council debts totalling 
£54,515.76 to be written-off 

Risk Reputati
on

Write Off

Any risk to reputation is managed carefully by 
prompt recovery of amounts due wherever 
possible.

This risk is also mitigated by taking a balanced 
view and ensuring that resources are not expended 
on debts which are not cost effective to pursue

The obvious risk of debtors subsequently being 
able to pay a debt which has been written off is 
mitigated by the activity outlined in issues for 
consideration.  

Any individual debt exceeding £5,000 is referred to 
members for consideration prior to write-off which 
accords with Financial regulations.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and All enforcement action that is taken prior to this 



Diversity point is undertaken in accordance with legislation 
and accepted procedures to ensure no 
discrimination takes place.

Safeguarding None  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

None

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

None

Other 
implications

A bad debt provision is built into the financial 
management of the Authority

Supporting Information

Appendices:

Table 1 – Council debt under £5,000 written off by the Section 151 Officer
Table 2 – Non-Domestic Rate debt under £5,000 written off by the Section 
151 Officer
Table 3 – Summary of items over £5,000 where permission to write off is 
requested
Table 4 – National & Local Collection Statistics re 2017 / 18 Collection 
Rates
Table 5 – Quarterly income in 2017 / 18 relating to all years
Table 6 – Previous Year Write Off Totals

Background Papers:

Section 151 Local Government Act 1972
Section 44 Local Government Finance Act 1988 (Non Domestic Rate)
Section 14 Local Government Finance Act 1992 (Council Tax)
Recovery Policy

Approval and clearance of report

Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed Yes
SLT Rep briefed Yes
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes
Data protection issues considered Yes
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny)

Yes



TABLE 1   SUMMARY OF WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL DEBT UNDER £5,000 WRITTEN OFF BY S151 OFFICER

Financial Year 2018/19 Totals for Comparison purposes  

Quarter  1 Cumulative Total  Equivalent Quarter 
2017/18 Grand Total 2017/18

TYPE OF DEBT NUMBER 
OF CASES REASON FOR W/OFF

Amount (£) Cases Amount Cases Amount Cases Amount
HOUSING BENEFIT 29 Overpaid Entitlement 12,731.54 29 12,731.54 28 8,755.84 75 33,850.74

- Insolvency / Bankruptcy - - - 3 973.35 11 9,577.59
2 Deceased 647.25 2 647.25 - - 4 5,323.58
1 Other 105.50 1 105.50 - - 5 307.97
- Absconded - - - - - - -

10 Not Cost Effective to Pursue 1,087.53 10 1,087.53 3 29.57 30 383.46
-         Uncollectable Old Debt - - - 4 271.96 108 68,017.77

Total 42 14,571.82 42 14,571.82 38 10,030.72 233 117,461.11
COUNCIL TAX - Absconded - - - 4 8,512.87 27 30,193.39

5 Insolvency / Bankruptcy 7,489.26 5 7,489.26 5 3,509.79 38 47,568.67
- Deceased - - - - - 8 2,942.55
2 Other (inc. CTR overpayment) 728.40 2 728.40 2 252.12 16 4,975.27
1 Small Balance 2.65 1 2.65 - - 6 138.46
- Uncollectable Old Debt - - - - - - -

Total 8 8,220.31 8 8,220.31 11 12,274.78 95 85,818.34
SUNDRY DEBTS - Small Balance - - - - - - -

- Insolvency / Bankruptcy - - - - - - -
- Not Cost Effective to Pursue - - - - - - -
- Uncollectable Old Debt - - - - - 234 85,064.24
- Absconded - - - - - - -
1 Other 540.00 1 540.00 - - - -

Total 1 540.00 1 540.00 - - 234 85,064.24
Grand Total 51 23,332.13 51 23,332.13 49 22,305.50 562 288,343.69

Breakdown of Absconded Council Tax Debt
(Some cases have debts over more than one year)

Year 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10
Pre 

2009/10 Total
Value - - - - - - - - - - - -
Number - - - - - - - - - - - -



TABLE 2     SUMMARY OF NON DOMESTIC RATE DEBT UNDER £5,000 WRITTEN OFF BY THE S151 OFFICER

Financial Year 2018/19 Totals for Comparison purposes  

Quarter 1 Cumulative Total Equivalent Quarter 
2017/18 Grand Total 2017/18TYPE OF DEBT

 
NUMBER OF 

CASES REASON FOR W/OFF

Amount (£) Cases Amount Cases Amount Cases Amount
NON-DOMESTIC RATE 2 Insolvency / Bankruptcy 4,618.83 2 4,618.83 - - 3 4,648.89

- Absconded - - - 2 1,121.21 5 1,254.53
- Deceased - - - - -
- Other - - - - - 3 2,972.72
- Small Balance - - - - - - -
- Uncollectable Old Debt - - - - - - -

Total 2 4,618.83 2 4,618.83 2 1,121.21 11 8,876.14

TABLE 3     SUMMARY OF ITEMS OVER £5000 WHERE PERMISSION TO WRITE OFF IS REQUESTED

Financial Year 2018/19 Totals for Comparison purposes  

Quarter 1 Cumulative Total  Equivalent Quarter 
2017/18 Grand Total 2017/18TYPE OF DEBT NUMBER 

OF CASES REASON FOR W/OFF

Amount (£) Cases Amount Cases Amount Cases Amount
NON-DOMESTIC RATE 1 Insolvency / Bankruptcy 26,564.80 1 26,564.80 - - 1 7,561.62

- Absconded - - - - - - -
- Deceased - - - - - - -
- Other - - - - - - -

Total 1 26,564.80 1 26,564.80 - - 1 7,561.62
HOUSING BENEFIT - Insolvency / Bankruptcy - - - - - 1 5,898.04

- Overpaid Entitlement - - - - - 1 11,228.53
- Other - - - - - - -
- Deceased - - - - - - -

Total - - - - - - 2 17,126.57
COUNCIL TAX - Insolvency / Bankruptcy - - - - - 3 27,458.04

- Absconded - - - - - - -
- Other (inc. CTR overpayment) - - - - - - -

Total - - - - - - 3 27,458.04
Grand Total 1 26,564.80 1 26,564.80 - - 6 52,146.23



TABLE 4     NATIONAL & LOCAL COLLECTION STATISTICS RE 2017-18 COLLECTION RATES

Total amount collected in 2017-18 relating to 2017-18 financial year only (net of refunds relating to 2017-18)

Council Tax Non Domestic Rates
Collectable Debit    

i.r.o. 17/18 - £000s
Net Cash Collected* 
i.r.o. 17/18 - £000s

Amount Collected 
i.r.o. 17/18 - %age

Collectable Debit    
i.r.o. 17/18 - £000s

Net Cash Collected* 
i.r.o. 17/18 - £000s

Amount Collected 
i.r.o. 17/18 - %age

       
All England 28,319,489 27,501,263 97.1 25,287,466 24,873,246 98.4
       
Shire Districts 12,943,776 12,683,211 98.0 7,946,252 7,824,084 98.5
       
East Devon 100,360 99,336 99.0 33,789 33,517 99.2
Exeter 62,885 60,142 95.6 80,695 79,137 98.1
Mid Devon 50,115 49,092 98.0 15,924 15,793 99.2
North Devon 58,567 56,830 97.0 32,078 31,423 98.0
Plymouth 118,686 115,110 97.0 91,798 90,519 98.6
South Hams 66,496 65,264 98.2 30,935 30,216 97.7
Teignbridge 84,735 83,541 98.6 30,644 30,464 99.4
Torbay 75,843 72,525 95.6 35,501 34,210 96.4
Torridge 40,914 40,108 98.0 11,297 11,126 98.5
West Devon 37,196 36,025 97.6 10,499 10,289 98.0
* Net Cash Collected is total 2017-18 receipts net of refunds paid, in respect of 2017-18 only

TABLE 5     QUARTERLY INCOME IN 2017-18 RELATING TO ALL YEARS

Total amount collected in 2017-18 relating to any financial year (net of all refunds in 2017-18)

Council Tax 
Net Cash Collected*

£000s

Non Domestic Rates 
Net Cash Collected*

£000s
Quarter 1 - Receipts collected between 1st April – 30th June 10,933 4,062
Quarter 2 - Receipts collected between 1st July – 30th September 10,207 2,514
Quarter 3 - Receipts collected between 1st October – 31st December 10,429 2,094
Quarter 4 - Receipts collected between 1st January – 31st March 5,115 1,492
* Net Cash Collected is total receipts in 2017-18 net of refunds paid, irrespective of the financial year (previous, current or future years) to which they relate



TABLE 6     PREVIOUS YEAR WRITE OFF TOTALS

  2017 - 18 2016 - 17 2015 - 16 2014 - 15 2013- 14 2012 - 13
HOUSING BENEFIT Under £5,000 cases 117,461.11 28,341.72 37,800.00 77,477.87 48,315.96 47,636.80
HOUSING BENEFIT £5,000 or over cases 17,126.57 15,685.10 15,685.10 25,488.58 0.00 0.00
Total  134,587.68 44,026.82 53,485.10 102,966.45 48,315.96 47,636.80
     
COUNCIL TAX Under £5,000 cases 85,818.34 85,498.82 60,159.32 67,271.83 33,385.96 199,475.48
COUNCIL TAX £5,000 or over cases 27,458.04 - 0.00 5,265.60 15,940.10 25,924.46
Total  113,276.38 85,498.82 60,159.32 72,537.43 49,326.06 225,399.94
     
SUNDRY DEBTS Under £5,000 cases 85,064.24 15,895.01 3,020.15 887.47 818.09 4,449.99
SUNDRY DEBTS £5,000 or over cases - - - 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total  85,064.24 15,895.01 3,020.15 887.47 818.09 4,449.99
     
NON DOMESTIC RATES Under £5,000 cases 8,876.14 10,517.74 6,650.00 17,699.12 35,095.48 18,780.31
NON DOMESTIC RATES £5,000 or over cases 7,561.62 29,217.16 29,217.16 89,506.07 38,882.41 26,680.71
Total  16,437.76 39,734.90 35,867.16 107,205.19 73,977.89 45,461.02
     
GRAND TOTAL  349,366.06 185,155.55 152,531.73 283,596.54 172,438.00 322,947.75



Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 11 September 2018

Title: Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20

Portfolio Area: Health and Wellbeing – Cllr Leech

Wards Affected: all

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview & Scrutiny Internal

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Date next steps can be taken:
(e.g. referral on of recommendation or 
implementation of substantive decision)

Author: Lorraine 
Mullineaux 

Role: Housing Benefit Specialist 

Contact: Lorraine.Mullineaux@swdevon.gov.uk 

Recommendations:

That the Hub Committee:

1. Approves the proposal to consult on Option1 (as outlined in 
Section 4) on a banded scheme which will assess the maximum 
level of Council Tax Reduction based on the net income of the 
claimant and partner; and

2. Requests that the results of the consultation exercise be 
presented back to the Hub Committee prior to a revised Scheme 
being considered for approval by the Council.

         

1. Executive summary 

mailto:Lorraine.Mullineaux@swdevon.gov.uk


1.1 It is an annual requirement for Councils to revisit their existing 
council tax support scheme and make a decision as to whether to 
replace or revise it.

          
          

1.2    In order to make changes to our scheme for 2019/20 we are 
required by law to:

 Consult with the major precepting authorities
 Consult with other persons as it considers are likely to have 

an interest in the operation of the scheme.

 1.3    The final Council Tax Reduction Scheme must be adopted by Full 
Council by the 31st January 2019, and cannot be delegated to an 
Officer or Committee.   

2   Background 

2.1 Council Tax Support (CTS also known as Council Tax Reduction - 
CTR) was introduced in April 2013 and replaced the national Council 
Tax Benefit Scheme, with a 10% funding reduction. The CTR 
scheme for working-age customers is a local scheme, however the 
scheme that exists for pension age recipients is a national scheme 
prescribed by regulations and cannot be varied locally. Therefore 
any savings to the scheme must come from working age 
customers. 

2.2 Local Schemes must take account of and:

 Support work incentives and in particular avoid disincentives 
for those moving into work

 Our duties to protect vulnerable people (these duties already 
exist under the Equality Act 2010, The Care Act 2014, Child 
Poverty Act 2010, The Housing Act 1996)

 The Armed Forces Covenant. 

3 The Current Scheme

3.1 The working age scheme adopted by this council in 2014 retained 
the main elements of the former council tax benefit scheme but 
with the following;

 Liability limit (maximum support) of 80%. This means 
that everyone pays at least the 20% of their Council Tax.

 Limiting CTR to a Band D Council Tax charge. This means 
that customers living in a home with a Council Tax band 
greater than D must pay the additional charge.

 No second adult reduction 
 A vulnerability/hardship fund to provide additional 

financial help.



3.2 Retaining the core elements of the Council Tax Benefit scheme, 
means that we have preserved the means test in its current form, 
together with the protections and work incentives that have been 
refined over many years. This means that our scheme allows for 
the annual uprating’s such as; living allowances, permitted earnings 
and non-dependant deductions in-line with the relevant regulations.

3.3 The scheme adopted by this Council also took account of the 
outcomes following previous public consultation. 

3.4 Since the start of CTR there have been a number of legal challenges 
to Billing Authorities schemes. Most of these challenges have been 
made against the consultation process and whether due regard was 
given to the equality impact assessment when making changes to 
the scheme. A Supreme Court ruling in 2014 – R (Moseley) v 
London Borough of Haringey has meant that consultation on 
changes to Council Tax Reduction schemes must also include an 
option on how the current scheme could be retained on the same 
level of funding.

3.5 Since 2013/14 funding for Council Tax Reduction has been included 
within the overall local government funding grant.  The Authority 
therefore decides how much funding is available to support the 
Council Tax Reduction scheme.

3.6 The aim of the local scheme was for it to be ‘cost neutral’. By this 
we mean that the level of Government grant would equal 
forecasted Council Tax Reduction expenditure for 2019/20

3.7 The following table sets out the annual expenditure and caseload:

Total caseload Working age 
caseload

Pension 
age 
caseload

Working age 
expenditure 

£

Pension age 
expenditure

£

Total West 
Devon BC 
expenditure

£
April 14 3,805 1,817 1,988 1,371,905 1,997,878 3,369,783
April 15 3,732 1,801 1,931 1,344,328 1,932,119 3,276,447
April 16 3,482 1,683 1,799 1,283,718 1,830,880 3,114,598
April 17 3,438 1,690 1,748 1,375,750 1,871,267 3,247,017
April 18 3,421 1,727 1,694 1,451,567 1,905,121 3,356,688

3.8 The slight increase in expenditure is mainly due to the level of 
increase in council tax for 2018/19. 

3.9 Over the four years from 2016/17 to 2019/20, the Council’s 
Government funding (Settlement Funding Assessment – SFA) 
received from Central Government will be reduced by 37% over the 
four years.     

https://www.supremecourt.uk/decided-cases/docs/UKSC_2013_0116_Judgment.pdf
https://www.supremecourt.uk/decided-cases/docs/UKSC_2013_0116_Judgment.pdf


3.10 Our current scheme has served its purpose, but it is a very complex 
and confusing scheme and with Universal Credit about to be rolled 
out fully in West Devon it will quickly become not fit for purpose 
due to the high volumes of changes that Universal Credit creates. A 
banded scheme will resolve this it will also be much simpler for the 
claimant to understand, they will be able to look at the grid and 
instantly work out which band they fall into and how much council 
tax reduction they will receive, reducing failure demand. It will also 
be much easier and quicker to administer, reducing the amount of 
queries and phone calls.            

4. Proposed Way Forward
Option 1 – banded scheme – This is an example of how a banded 
scheme could look. 

4.1 To keep the scheme simple where a customer receives a passported 
benefit, such as Income Support, Jobseekers Allowance (IB) or 
Employment and Support Allowance (IR) they will automatically 
receive maximum support by being placed in the top band of the 
scheme. 

Therefore the income bands that will be used in the schemes are as 
follows:-

Council Tax 
Reduction 

Level

Pass 
ported

Single 
Income 
Band

£

Couples' 
Income 
Band £

Family 
with one 

child
£

Family with 
two or more 

children
+ Disabled

£
Band 1 – 

100%
Relevant 
Benefit

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Band 2 - 80% N/A 0.00 to 
110.00 
weekly

0.00 to 
160.00 
weekly

0.00 – 
210.00 
weekly

0.00 – 
260.00 
weekly

Band 3 - 60% N/A 110.01 -
160.00 
weekly

160.01 – 
210.00 
weekly

210.01 – 
260.00 
weekly

260.01 – 
300.00 
weekly

Band 4 - 40% N/A 160.01 - 
220.00 
weekly

210.01 – 
270.00 
weekly

260.01 – 
320.00 
weekly

300.01 – 
370.00 
weekly

Band 5 – 
25%

N/A 220.01 – 
290.00 
weekly

270.01 – 
340.00 
weekly

320.00 – 
390.00 
weekly

370.01 – 
440.00 
weekly

Main features:-

In this scheme as part of our ongoing commitment to support disabled 
people we will continue to disregard Disability Living Allowance, Personal 
Independence Payments and War Disablement Benefits for the income 



used in the assessment of Council Tax Reduction and we will continue to 
disregard Child Benefit and Child Maintenance Payments.

Working-age households will receive a % discount, depending on their 
level of income, the income bands are set out as above. The higher end of 
the band limit is increased depending on the size of the household. The 
rates have been based on the increases to personal allowances premiums 
in the current means tested scheme. 

The following is a summary of the main elements of our proposed working 
age Council Tax Reduction Scheme:-

 Working-age people will receive a % discount of either 100%, 
80%, 40% or 25%, depending on the level of income and the 
oncome band they fall into.

 Anyone with savings of £10,000 or more will not qualify.
 Those in receipt of Income Support, Jobseekers Allowance 

(income-based) Employment Support Allowance (income-related) 
will automatically be placed into Band A (i.e. 100% reduction)

 Net earnings will be taken into account when calculating Council 
Tax Reduction.

 Application for Council Tax Reduction will be made online or 
through notification of an award to Income Support, Jobseekers 
Allowance (income-based), Employment and Support Allowance 
(income-related) and Universal Credit.

 Income from Disability Living Allowance, Personal Independence 
Payments, Armed Forces Independence Payments, Child Benefit, 
Child Maintenance and War Disablement Benefits will continue to 
be disregarded when calculating Council Tax Reduction.

 To support incentives to work, we will retain the earnings disregard 
of £5.00 for single people, £10.00 for couples and £20.00 for lone 
parents, this is the amount of earnings not taken into account.

 To support incentives to work for those that work over 16 hours we 
will retain the weekly childcare disregard which will be applied to 
earnings of up to £175.00 for one child and £300 for two or more. 
(A disregard is an amount of earnings not taken into account in the 
calculation of net earnings).    

 Universal Credit – Where the Universal Credit payment is worked 
out based on wages, we will still take the wages into account after 
taking the relevant earnings disregard. We will then add them to 
the Universal Credit payment to work out what band to use to 
calculate the Council Tax Reduction. 

 Deductions taken from Universal Credit by the Department for 
Works and Pensions (DWP) will not be removed.

 The housing cost element of Universal Credit will be ignored.
 Introduce a Minimum Income Floor (MIF) for self-employed after a 

12 month start-up period. Linked to National Living wage (£7.83) 
or National Minimum wage (£7.38 or £5.90 depending on age).          



 Applications from joint tenants will be assessed on their share of 
the liability.

 No non-dependant deductions to be applied for any non-
dependant. (This is where you have someone else living in your 
home who is not dependant on you).

 Backdating is limited to six months and assessed on whether there 
is good cause to do this.  

 Payment of Council Tax Reduction would only be made if it is over 
£1 per week.                          

Pension age people are not affected by this change and they will continue 
to have council tax reduction assessed in the same way through the 
Governments Council Tax Reduction default scheme.

4.2 Through regulations, government set the allowances (applicable 
amounts), premiums and non-dependant deductions to be used 
when calculating whether a person of pension age is entitled to 
Council Tax Reduction. These amounts are uprated by 
government on an annual basis (not yet available for 2019/20) 
to reflect increase in cost of living.

4.3 If the draft scheme is approved then the aim is to complete a 
public consultation. The consultation is likely to take place 
between September and November.

4.4 Once the outcome of the consultation is known the results will 
be analysed and presented to Members with the proposed way 
forward, for a final decision on the 2019/20 scheme.

Option 2 – Amend current scheme

4.5 In 2019/20 we are predicting a significant increase in our council 
tax reduction workload as a result of Universal Credit. In order 
to reduce the impact on performance, collection rates, 
correspondence, re-billing and recovery we could look to 
introduce a tolerance figure, whereby we don’t amend a person’s 
income unless it is under or over a set amount.  

4.6 This would slightly reduce the amount of administration work, 
but it wouldn’t reduce the scheme expenditure, staff costs, 
customer queries, phone calls, and collection rates for working 
age claimants will reduce further once Universal Credit is fully 
rolled out.        

Option 3 – Do nothing for 2019/20 and work with the other Devon 
Councils in developing a new scheme for 2020/2021.  

4.7 West Devon and South Hams are the only two councils within 
Devon that are looking to introduce a new scheme in 2019/20. 

4.8 We could stay with our current scheme for 2019/20 and work 
with the rest of Devon in developing a new scheme for 2020/21. 

4.9 This option will have the same impact as option 2 without the 
reduction in administration.



5. Supporting Information 

5.1 For 2017/18 the Council for working age people in receipt of 
council tax reduction had a net liability debt of £687,808 of 
which we managed to collect just 77.24%, there are also just 
over £18,000 worth of costs still uncollected, these are 
summons costs that have been applied to accounts in order for 
the authority to apply for a liability order to be able to take 
further action in recovery of unpaid council tax, this highlights 
the financial burden on some of our most vulnerable residents.    

5.2 We assess and pay council tax reduction to 3,421 households, of 
these 1,694 are people of pension age and 1,727 are people of 
working age.  

5.3 Council tax reduction caseloads have reduced in West Devon 
since 2013/14 and the cost for our 2017/18 scheme was 
£3,356,688, the modelling shows that the banded scheme (as 
shown above) would cost £3,344,103.

5.4 All these costs are estimates at the moment as we will need to 
do much more modelling and testing, the next report will have 
much more in depth detail and costings.       

5.5 Our approach to amending the council tax reduction scheme 
continues to support the Council’s local policy priorities, in 
particular:-  

 Reducing inequalities by protecting the most vulnerable 
people in our authority; as we continue to disregard child 
benefit, Disability Living Allowance and war pensions.

 Supporting work incentives by increasing the weekly 
amount a person or couple can earn before their income 
is used in the assessment of council tax reduction.

5.6 The majority of the 1,727 claims will be impacted positively by 
the new banding scheme with only a very small % of claims 
losing small amounts of council tax reduction.

5.7 The scheme will be far simpler for the claimant to understand, 
therefore less customer queries and calls, we won’t be verifying 
information so this will reduce staff assessing time and speed up 
processing times.    

5.8 The costs to administer the scheme should reduce significantly, 
but both Councils would have to agree to the banding scheme to 
realise all the efficiencies.       

6. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 

proposals

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y The relevant powers for this report are contained 
within the following legislation;

Clause 34 of the Welfare Reform Bill provides for 



the abolition of Council Tax Benefit from 31st 
March 2013 and introduces the Local Council Tax 
Support Schemes to be administered by Local 
Authorities

Financial Y The Government funding (Settlement funding 
assessment - SFA) received from Central 
Government will be reduced by 37% over the four 
years. Council Tax Reduction funding is included 
within the SFA. The scheme is designed to be cost 
neutral and covers the shortfall in funding of over 
£0.5 million.       

Risks Agreement 
on scheme

Financial

Failure to agree a scheme by 31st January 2019.

Detrimental impact on collection rates

Business case in place with all preceptors 
agreeing financial support to fund extra resource 
to undertake early intervention and money 
advice.

Future funding reductions could mean that the 
proposed scheme will not remain fit for purpose

Annual review and close monitoring of 
announcements and national forums

Impact on wider economy and most vulnerable

Business case in place with all preceptors 
agreeing financial support to provide Exceptional 
Hardship Fund to assist those in extreme financial 
need.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

Y An equality impact assessment hasn’t been 
completed yet, this will be done once we know the 
scheme.

Safeguarding Y Changes to a Banded scheme could be seen to 
have a positive impact on child poverty.   

Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder

Y As above.

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

Y Changes to a Banded scheme could be seen to 
have a positive impact on our poorest and most 
vulnerable families.

Other implications



Appendices:

Appendix 1 Devon Schemes

Approval and clearance of report

Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed Yes/No
SLT Rep briefed Yes/No
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes/No
Data protection issues considered Yes/No
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Cabinet/Scrutiny)

Yes/No





Appendix 1

Local Authority Limit 
Liability

2018/1
9

Band 
Restriction

2018/19

Upper 
Capital 
Limit

2018/19

Welfare 
Reform 
Changes 
following 
Housing 
Benefit in 
2017/18

Minimum 
Income 
Floor

2018/19

Changes Proposed for 
2019/20

Hardship 
Fund

2018/19

Other

East Devon District 
Council   

80% Band D £8,000 All Yes Consulting on fixed period 
averages for Universal 

Credit claims

Yes

Exeter City Council 80% N/A £6,000 Some Yes No changes Yes 2017/18 didn’t 
include 2 child 
restriction and 

removal of family 
premium 

Mid Devon District 
Council

80% Band D £8,000 All Yes No changes Yes

North Devon District 
Council

75% Band D £6,000 All Yes None  Yes Increased earnings 
disregard

South Hams District 
Council 

80% Band D £16,000 None No Consult on Income Banded 
Scheme:

 100%, 80%, 60%, 
40% & 25% based on 
level of income 

 £10,000 capital limit
 Minimum Income 

Floor for self-
employed

 No non-dependant 
deductions 

 Limited to 2 children 

Yes  

Teignbridge District 
Council

100% N/A £16,000 All Yes None No

Torridge District 
Council

75% Band D £6,000 None No None Yes

West Devon Borough 80% Band D £16,000 None No Consult on Income Banded Yes



Appendix 1

Council Scheme:
 100%, 80%, 60%, 

40% & 25% based on 
level of income 

 £10,000 capital limit
 Minimum Income 

Floor for self-
employed

 No non-dependant 
deductions 

 Limited to 2 children 
Income Banded 

Scheme
Unitary Authorities

Torbay 70% Band D £6,000 Some Yes Liability reduced to 70% and 
Band restriction to 

Yes In 2017/18 didn’t 
remove severe 

disability premium 
or make the 
Employment 

Support Allowance 
changes. 

Plymouth 78% Band E £6,000 Some Yes None Yes 2017/18 didn’t 
include 2 child 
restriction and 

removal of family 
premium



Report to: West Devon Hub Committee

Date: 11 September 2018 

Title: Civil Penalties for breaches of Housing 
Standards Enforcement Notices

Portfolio Area: Health and Wellbeing – Cllr Leech

Wards Affected: All

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: Council
25 September 2018

Author: David Sexton Role: Senior Environmental Health 
Specialist 

Contact: 01822 813716/dave.sexton@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  
That Hub Committee RECOMMENDS to Council to update the 
existing Enforcement policy with the Civil Penalty Policy

1. Executive summary 

Civil Penalties have been introduced by government legislation as an 
alternative to traditional criminal law enforcement against landlords, 
mostly relating to Housing offences. Local authorities have the power 
to set civil penalty amounts locally up to a statutory maximum.  Civil 
Penalties allow for a higher financial penalty than the currently low 
court fines; they will provide an effective deterrent and protect residents 
against rogue landlords; they will protect against unscrupulous letting 
agents and other poor business practices. Civil penalties would also 
deliver more cost efficient and faster enforcement in the area of 
housing disrepair.

2. Background 



2.1 Traditionally Regulation and Enforcement has enforced legislation 
using the principles of criminal law. Breaches of legislation would result 
in a legal notice being served and prosecution if non-compliance is 
witnessed. This is sometimes a long winded process. In the last 15 
years Fixed Penalty Notices have been introduced to offer a more 
appropriate alternative to prosecution for some simpler offences such 
as littering and breach of community protection notices. If such 
penalties are not paid the matter would still end up in the Magistrates’ 
Court giving the recipient a court fine and a criminal conviction. 

2.2 Over the last few years government policy has been focused on 
decriminalisation of many offences. This has led to many pieces of new 
legislation being introduced based on Local Authorities issuing civil 
penalties, instead of taking cases through the traditional criminal route. 
Civil penalties are already successfully used for enforcement in other 
areas such as littering/flytipping. They are based on the principle that if 
an offence is witnessed, the Local Authority would send out an 
intention to serve a civil penalty, stating the amount and details of the 
breach, giving the person a set time to appeal the decision. The 
Council would consider any appeal received internally and progress the 
matter to a civil penalty if appropriate. Once the civil penalty is issued 
the recipient could appeal this to a tribunal.

2.3 Housing and Planning Act 2016 includes measures to further target 
rogue landlords and bad practices in the private rented sector. The Act 
provides the option for Local Authorities to impose Civil Penalties as an 
alternative to prosecution for several offences already existing under 
the Housing Act 2004, such as: 

Failure to comply with a Housing Improvement Notice 
Failure to comply with an Overcrowding Notice 
Failure to licence premises (HMOs and Selective Licensing) 
Failure to comply with HMO Management Regulations. 16. The 
amount of a financial penalty imposed under this legislation is to 
be determined by the Local Authority, but must not be more than 
£30,000. 

2.4 In order to start issuing civil penalties for these offences rather than 
continuing the practice of taking these matters to court, the Local 
Authority would need to agree this policy on determining the 
appropriate level of Civil Penalty and publish a statement of policy on 
our website.

2.5 The legislation which introduced Civil Penalties in other areas of 
enforcement has left it to the individual Local Authorities to determine 
the level of Civil Penalty appropriate in each case. It is felt it would be 
in the public interest to encourage early resolution of cases. As the 
alternative to a Civil Penalty would be a prosecution, it would be fair to 
offer the same early resolution discount.  



2.6 The civil penalty matrix has been developed at a county level, it is 
based on a hybrid of a recommended matrix from Government and 
Charted Institute of Environmental Health.   

3. Outcomes/outputs 

3.1 The Council serves a number of notices each year, if such notices are 
not complied with, cases are referred for prosecution. In the last couple 
of years we have not needed to undertake any prosecutions, as the 
enforcement notices were complied with.  Going forward this will be a 
useful tool but it is hard to anticipate how many landlords will flout the 
law.  If Civil Penalties were introduced, these landlords can receive a 
fixed penalty, rather than officers preparing legal files, saving time as 
well as imposing a more substantial penalty. 

3.2 In October 2018 the mandatory licencing of certain houses of multiple 
occupation (HMO) is being expanded.  With this policy the council will 
have better tools to deal with landlords who refuse to licence the 
required HMO. There is little information on how many are out there, 
they are out there, and at the time of writing this report no applications 
have been received.  

3.3 There may be a surge in fixed penalties in this year’s 3rd and 4th 
quarter, with the expansion of HMO licensing.  The base level going 
forward is expected to be in single figures. 

4. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y The proposed amendments to the Council’s 
Enforcement Policy and the new proposed policy on 
financial penalties are compliant with the relevant 
legislative changes and statutory guidance to which 
the Council must have regard.   

Financial Y These new penalties will help generate additional 
income for the enforcement service. It is difficult to 
estimate how many charges would be made and from 
this how many would be fully paid.

It is likely that by introducing the new charges there 
will be a high level of compliance so a reduction in the 
number of fines issued.



Risk Y There is a likelihood that some landlords may 
challenge remedial notices or civil penalties imposed. 
Landlords have a legal route to request the Local 
Authority to review any civil penalty notice and can 
further appeal the notice to a First-tier Tribunal. Such 
challenges can be time consuming for the officers 
involved, however Specialists have experience of 
handling such reviews in a time efficient manner. To 
limit the number of appeals as far as possible and 
ensure high quality of evidence in all cases, the 
Specialists undertake a rigorous case review. The 
same safeguards will be implemented for any Civil 
Penalty 
Offences. To defend an appeal in a First-tier Tribunal 
is not more time consuming than taking cases to 
court. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

Residents from vulnerable groups can sometimes 
have limited housing choices. In particular, families 
with young children, older persons and those with a 
disability can find themselves in poor quality 
accommodation. The policy aims to safeguard the 
health, safety and welfare of residents in the rental 
sector. 

Poor housing conditions can negatively affect the 
health, safety and well-being of all residents, 
irrespective of age. However, certain housing 
deficiencies can have a more serious and harmful 
impact on individuals of particular ages. For example, 
older persons will suffer more in cold homes. This 
policy will is commensurate with the severity of the 
defect.  

Enforcement through civil penalties is more efficient 
and provides better value for money than traditional 
enforcement through prosecution.

Safeguarding The policy identifies residents in rental properties as a 
beneficiary of assistance. The policy also aims to 
safeguard residents by making their homes safer for 
them to live in.

Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder

There is no positive or negative impact on crime and 
disorder.   

Health, Safety and The policy also aims to improve the health, safety and 



Wellbeing wellbeing of residents by making their homes safer for 
them to live in.

Other implications This proposal is changing working practices for staff, 
but not affecting the overall job role or number of 
posts

Political & Reputation – This proposal demonstrates 
the Council’s commitment to improve the private 
rental sector. 

Supporting Information

Appendices:

Appendix 1 Civil Penalty Policy 
Appendix 2 Examples 

Background Papers:

Council Enforcement Policy 





1

Housing Standards – Civil Penalty Policy

Policy document setting out how West Devon Borough Council and South Hams District 
Council will deliver section 249a of The Housing Act 2004 (as implemented by section 126 of 
the Housing and Planning Act 2016) in order to issue civil penalties as alternative to 
prosecution

Section 126 and schedule 9 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 came into force on the 
6th April 2017.

These provisions give the local housing authority the power to issue a financial penalty for 
certain Housing Act 2004 offences as an alternative to prosecution.

The civil penalties option can be used for the following Housing Act 2004 offences:
 Failure to comply with an improvement notice
 Offences in relation to HMO licensing
 Offences relating to the contravention of an overcrowding notice
 Failure to comply with the HMO management regulations

The council is required to have a policy in place that details when to prosecute and when to 
consider a civil penalty.

The council must also provide guidance on how the fine levels will be set. 

The guidance document issued by DCLG provides details on the considerations that must be 
taken into account as part of the fine setting process. It places particular emphasis upon the 
severity of the offence and the landlord’s previous record of offending. A scoring mechanism 
has been devised to reflect the considerations set out in the DCLG guidance. This scoring 
mechanism is set out below.



2

1.0 When to prosecute and when to consider a civil penalty 

The same criminal standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for prosecution. 

The Councils will firstly satisfy itself that if the case were to be prosecuted in the 
magistrates’ court, there would be a realistic prospect of conviction.

In order to do so the Councils will consider its own enforcement policy, consult the 
Crown Prosecution Service Code for Crown Prosecutors’ and work closely with legal 
advisors. 

Once satisfied that there would be a realistic prospect of conviction a decision will be 
taken as to whether to prosecute or to issue a civil penalty. All decisions will be taken 
on a case-by-case basis.

The guidance document issued by DCLG suggests that prosecution may be the most 
appropriate option where an offence is particularly serious or where the offender has 
committed similar offences in the past. 

It is likely that a civil penalty will be considered as the most appropriate course of action 
except in the aforementioned circumstances where further consideration will be taken. 



3

2.0 Levels of fine to be set

The guidance document issued by DCLG provides the following considerations when 
determining the level of a civil penalty;

2.1 Severity of the offence - The more serious the offence, the higher the penalty should 
be.

In order to measure the severity of the offence the following criteria will be used;

Level one – Major impact – serious and substantial risk to the health and safety of the 
occupiers and/or community as a result of the offence, with potentially life threatening 
results or loss of major limbs. Housing defects posing such a risk maybe associated 
with electrical hazards, carbon monoxide exposure, fire safety risk, explosions, 
structural collapse and falling elements or significant collision and entrapment issues. 
They may be associated with hazards assessed under the HHSRS, conditions of an 
HMO licence or be a failure to comply with the HMO Management Regulations. These 
examples do not represent an exhaustive list.

For each Level 1 issue considered a score of 5 will be added.
  
Level two - Serious Impact – serious risk to the health and safety of the occupiers 
and/or immediate neighbours, potentially leading to serious injury or disease requiring 
prolonged treatment and/or hospital admission. Housing defects posing such a risk 
maybe associated with collision and entrapment issues, falls, asbestos, biocides or 
lead exposure, excessively cold or hot conditions, radiation or hot surfaces. They may 
be associated with hazards assessed under the HHSRS, conditions of an HMO licence 
or be a failure to comply with the HMO Management Regulations. These examples do 
not represent an exhaustive list.    

For each Level 2 issue considered a score of 3 will be added.

Level three – Minor impact – Risk of injury or disease to the occupiers potentially 
resulting in treatment at the doctors. Housing defects posing such a risk maybe 
associated with damp and mould issues, overcrowding, hygiene or food safety issues. 
They may be associated with hazards assessed under the HHSRS, conditions of an 
HMO licence or be a failure to comply with the HMO Management Regulations.  These 
examples do not represent an exhaustive list.    

For each Level 3 issue considered a score of 1 will be added.

A one-off premium of 10 points will be added where any hazard or issue would affect 
more than 1 household i.e. whole building issues or common parts issues in HMO’s. 
This is to ensure that the scope of the hazard or issue is considered in addition to its 
ability to harm.  



4

2.2 Culpability and track record of the offender - A higher penalty will be appropriate 
where the offender has a history of failing to comply with their obligations and/or their 
actions were deliberate and/or they knew, or ought to have known, that they were in 
breach of their legal responsibilities. Landlords are running a business and should be 
expected to be aware of their legal obligations.

In order to measure the culpability of the perpetrator the following criteria will be used;

Deliberate– An intentional breach by a landlord or property agent or flagrant 
disregard for the law for example by failing to comply with a notice or regulations. 

For Deliberate acts a score of 20 will be added

Reckless– An actual foresight of, or wilful blindness to the risk of offending but 
decides to take the risk nevertheless for example failing to comply with a strict 
liability in the HMO regulations.

For Reckless acts a score of 15 will be added

Negligent– The failure of the landlord or property agent to take reasonable care to 
put in place and enforce proper systems for avoiding the offence, for example partial 
compliance with a schedule of work to an enforcement notice but failure to fully 
comply with all schedule items.

For Negligent acts a score of 10 will be added

Low or no culpability– The offence committed has some fault on the part of the 
landlord or property agent but there are other circumstances for example obstruction 
by the tenant to allow a contractor access for repairs, or damage caused by tenant 
negligence.

For Low culpability acts a score of 5 will be added

A premium will be added where the requirement to licence a property under Parts 2 or 
3 of the Housing Act 2004 has not been complied with.

Where a landlord or person managing fails to obtain a licence without direct contact 
by the Councils requiring them to do so a score of 5 will be added.

Where a landlord or person managing fails to obtain a licence despite direct contact 
by the Councils requiring them to do so a score of 15 will be added.



5

2.3 Track record

1st offence – no previous conviction or civil penalty imposition for the same type of 
offence in the previous four years irrespective of the locality to which the offence 
relates.

For 1st offences a score of 10 will be added

2nd subsequent offence by same person/company – any conviction or civil penalty 
imposition for the same type of offence within four years of the 1st offence, irrespective 
of the locality to which the initial offence relates.

For 2nd offences a score of 20 will be added

Ongoing non-compliance - any conviction or civil penalty imposition for the same 
type of offence within four years of the previous instance (at least 3rd occurrence) 
irrespective of the locality to which the initial offence relates.  

For ongoing offences a score of 30 will be added

2.4 The harm caused to the tenant – This is a very important factor when determining 
the level of penalty. The greater the harm or the potential for harm (this may be as 
perceived by the tenant), the higher the amount should be when imposing a civil 
penalty.

A premium score will be added for actual harm having occurred and the vulnerability 
of the tenant as set out in the Housing Health and Safety Rating System and in the 
table below;

Hazard Vulnerable age group (age of 
occupant)

Damp and mould growth 14 and under
Excess Cold 65 or over
Excess Heat 65 or over
Carbon Monoxide 65 or over
Lead under 3 years
Personal Hygiene, Sanitation and Drainage under 5 years
Falls associated with baths etc. 60 or over
Falling on level surfaces etc. 60 or over
Falling on stairs etc. 60 or over
falling between levels under 5 years
Electrical hazards under 5 years
Fire 60 or over
Flames, hot surfaces etc. under 5 years
Collision and entrapment under 5 years
Collision and entrapment - low headroom 16 or over
Position and operability of amenities etc. 60 or over

A score of 10 will be added where the occupiers have suffered harm due to the defects 
noted.



6

A score of 3 will be added for each hazard or issue noted where the vulnerable age 
group are present

2.5 Reprimand of the offender – A civil penalty should not be regarded as an easy or 
lesser option compared to prosecution. While the penalty should be proportionate and 
reflect both the severity of the offence and whether there is a pattern of previous 
offending, it is important that it is set at a high enough level to help ensure that it has 
a real economic impact on the offender and demonstrates the consequences of not 
complying with their responsibilities.

Following the initial scoring calculation consideration will be given as to whether or not 
this element has been suitably met. If there is a decision to increase the fine level the 
reasoning behind the decision will be clearly set out in the Notice of Intent and any 
Final Notice.

2.6 Deter the offender from repeating the offence – The ultimate goal is to prevent any 
further offending and help ensure that the landlord fully complies with all of their legal 
responsibilities in future. The level of the penalty should therefore be set at a high 
enough level such that it is likely to deter the offender from repeating the offence.

Following the initial scoring calculation consideration will be given as to whether or not 
this element has been suitably met. If there is a decision to increase the fine level the 
reasoning behind the decision will be clearly set out in the Notice of Intent and any 
Final Notice. 

2.7 Deter others from committing similar offences – While the fact that someone has 
received a civil penalty will not be in the public domain, it is possible that other 
landlords in the local area will become aware through informal channels when 
someone has received a civil penalty. An important part of deterrence is the realisation 
that (a) the local housing authority is proactive in levying civil penalties where the need 
to do so exists and (b) that the level of civil penalty will be set at a high enough level 
to both punish the offender and deter repeat offending.

Following the initial scoring calculation consideration will be given as to whether or not 
this element has been suitably met. If there is a decision to increase the fine level the 
reasoning behind the decision will be clearly set out in the Notice of Intent and any 
Final Notice.

2.8 Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a result of 
committing the offence – The guiding principle here should be to ensure that the 
offender does not benefit as a result of committing an offence, i.e. it should not be 
cheaper to offend than to ensure a property is well maintained and properly managed.

Following the initial scoring calculation consideration will be given as to whether or not 
this element has been suitably met. In particular the fine level must not be less than it 
would cost to undertake any necessary works contributing to the initial offence. The 
inspecting officer will evaluate the cost of rectifying the deficiencies based upon their 
knowledge and experience of the local building industry. A costing sheet will be 
produced and any fine must be at least 50% greater than this total up to a limit of £30K. 
If there is a decision to increase the fine level the reasoning behind the decision will 
be clearly set out in the Notice of Intent and any Final Notice



7

3.0 Reductions

3.1 Level of compliance by perpetrator, their attitude in doing so and payment early 
payment - Where the decision has been taken that a prosecution is appropriate or 
subsequently a civil penalty notice should be issued, it is unlikely that the perpetrator 
could be deemed compliant however if there is a clear behavioural change and a will 
to ensure future compliance, followed by a payment with the prescribed 28 days a 
reduction of 10% may be attributed to the total.  

3.2 Financial hardship – The Council make an assessment of a landlord’s assets and 
any income (not just rental income) they receive when determining an appropriate 
penalty. The perpetrator will have the opportunity to make representations following 
the service of the Notice of Intent and may decide to set out any financial hardship in 
those representations. It will be for the perpetrator to provide sufficient documented 
evidence of income when relying upon such representations. The Council reserves 
the right to request further information to support any financial claim, and where this 
is incomplete, appears to be inaccurate or is not sufficiently evidenced may determine 
that the representation should not be considered. It should be noted that due to the 
average value of properties and the upper limit of £30K associated with any civil 
penalty action, it is unlikely that perpetrators with multiple properties will be able to 
demonstrate financial hardship. 

4.0 Scoring Chart 

Score Penalty Charge

1-10 £1,000

11-20 £2,000

21-30 £3,000

31-40 £5,000

41-50 £7,500

51-60 £10,000

61-70 £15,000

71-80 £20,000

81-90 £25,000

91-100+ £30,000





Examples 

Person A has failed to comply with an improvement notice containing 6 hazards; 
Excess Cold, Fire Safety, Falls on Stairs, Electrical hazards, Damp and Mould and 
Entry by Intruders (2 at level 1, 2 at level 2 and 2 at level 3). They were prosecuted for 
failing to comply with an improvement notice 3 years ago at a different address. The 
occupant is a 67 year old lady who has recently been in hospital with pneumonia. 

Scoring; 
Severity of the offence = 2 x 5 + 2 x 3 + 2 x 1 = 18
Multiple households affected = 0
Culpability - Deliberate as failed to comply with notice = 20
Premium added for Licensable HMO = 0
Track record – 2nd offence in 4 years = 20
Harm – Pneumonia (excess cold) = 10
Vulnerability – excess cold, falls on stairs & fire 3 x 3 = 9

Total = 77

Penalty charge = £20K

Once the Notice of intent is served the perpetrator engages positively with the LA. 
They accept the charge and pay within 28 days.

Reductions = Compliance, attitude, acceptance and early payment –10%

Subtotal = £18K

Person B is the person managing a poorly converted HMO. During an inspection 8 
contraventions of the HMO management Regulations are noted. The most serious 
relate to fire safety provisions and the electrical installation. There are 3 at level 1, 2 
at level 2 and 3 at level 3. The landlord was written to recently at another HMO to 
remind him of the need to comply with the management regulations at all of his 
properties. 

Scoring; 
Severity of the offence = 3 x 5 + 2 x 3 + 3 x 1 = 24 
Multiple households affected = 10
Culpability - Reckless as failed to comply with HMO Management Regs = 15
Premium added for Licensable HMO = 0
Track record – 1st offence despite recent advice = 10
Harm – non demonstrated = 0
Vulnerability – 3 x over 60’s living in the property (fire) 1 x 3 = 3

Total = 62

Penalty charge = £15K



Person C has failed to comply with an improvement notice requiring an excess cold 
hazard to be addressed. This is the 1st time the LA has had any engagement with the 
landlady who claims that she has had difficulty organising the works and gaining 
access. A young family occupy the property.

Scoring; 
Severity of the offence = 1 x 3 = 3
Multiple households affected = 0
Culpability - Deliberate unless evidence to the contrary = 20
Premium added for Licensable HMO = 0
Track record – 1st offence = 10
Harm – non demonstrated = 0
Vulnerability = 0

Total = 33

Penalty charge = £5K

Once the Notice of Intent is served Landlady makes representations suggesting that 
she would suffer financial hardship. She has 3 properties and the income is her only 
income. The cost of the works is estimated to be £3K

Person C has assets in the form of property from which she would be able to derive 
funds to pay the charge. No reduction is made. 

In order not to undermine consideration g (above) the charge should be a minimum of 
£4500

Person D has failed to licence a licensable HMO. She was written to following an initial 
visit 1 month ago advising that a licence was necessary. The property needs some 
attention however no notices have been served and it is not considered that the HMO 
management regulations have been breached. There is no history of non-compliance 
in the past.

Scoring;
Severity of the offence = 0
Multiple households affected = 0 (despite housing multiple households, there is no 
hazard or issue affecting health or wellbeing)
Culpability - Reckless = 15
Premium added for failure to licence = 15
Track record – 1st offence = 10
Harm – non demonstrated = 0
Vulnerability = 0

Total = 40

Penalty charge = £5K



Person E has failed to licence a licensable HMO. During the initial inspection 8 
contraventions of the HMO management Regulations are noted. The most serious 
relate to fire safety provisions and the electrical installation. There are 3 at level 1, 2 
at level 2 and 3 at level 3. Despite being written to no action has been taken to rectify 
the issues or licence the property. There are elderly occupants who are the most 
vulnerable to hazards relating to fire safety. In the past 8 years, Person E has been 
prosecuted on 2 other occasions for a similar offences at neighbouring local 
authorities, the most recent within the last 4 years.

Scoring;  

Severity of the offence = 3 x 5 + 2 x 3 + 3 x 1 = 24
Multiple households affected = 10 
Culpability - Reckless for failing to comply with HMO Management Regulations and 
Deliberate for failure to licence = 20
Premium added for failure to licence = 15 
Track record – 3rd offence = 30
Harm – non demonstrated = 0
Vulnerability 2 x over 60’s living in the property (fire) 1 x 3 = 3

Total = 102

Penalty charge = £30K





Report to: Hub Committee

Date: 11th September 2018

Title: Tamar Valley AONB Management Plan 2019-
2024 Consultation Draft

Portfolio Area: Customer First

Wards Affected: Tavistock, Buckland Monachorum, Walkham, 
Bere Ferrers, Tamarside, Milton Ford 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken:
(e.g. referral on of recommendation or 
implementation of substantive decision)

Author: Rob Sekula Role: Specialist – Assets and 
Place Making

Contact: 01822 813701 or rob.sekula@swdevon.gov.uk 

Recommendations:  That the Hub Committee:

1. Notes the content of the Consultation Draft of the Management Plan and 
Members send any comments to the author of the report for incorporation into 
a formal Council consultation response before the end of October 2018.

2. Delegates to the CoP Lead for Place Making the final content of the formal 
Council consultation response. 

3. Notes that the final version of the Management Plan for 2019-2024 will be 
brought to Hub Committee for adoption in early 2019. 

1. Executive summary
1.1 The report outlines the process of the review of the Management Plan for the 

Tamar Valley AONB, the issues identified for consideration within the Plan 
review, and details the method by which Members can contribute to the 
formal consultation response by the Council, with a view to bringing the final 
Plan to Hub Committee for adoption in early 2019.

mailto:rob.sekula@swdevon.gov.uk


2. Background
2.1 Under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act (2000), it is a statutory 

requirement for Local Authorities to produce Management Plans for AONBs 
in their area, and to review adopted plans at periods of not more than five 
years. The previous plan for the Tamar Valley AONB was adopted in 2014 
for the period until 2019, and is now due its statutory five year review.

2.2 The Borough Council as well as the other three relevant Local Authorities 
has delegated the authority to review the Tamar Valley AONB 
Management Plan for the next five years to the Tamar Valley AONB team.  

2.3 The reviewed Management Plan must be sent to the Secretary of State by 
March 2019. Defra considers that previous Guidance documents on AONB 
Management Plans are still fit for purpose but, together with Natural 
England and the National Association for AONBs, had produced a paper 
outlining the collective steer to AONB Partnerships in taking forward the 
next round of Management Plans.

2.4 A ‘light touch’ approach has been promoted building on the common 
format, structure and timetable agreed between the AONBs, with a view 
to reflecting changes in the statutory and legislative background, changing 
circumstances and resources, new knowledge and agendas, and lessons 
learned from implementation of previous Plans. 

2.5 The consultation draft of the Management Plan is out for formal 
consultation for a 12 week period between late August and late 
November, with a view to seeking adoption by the relevant Local 
Authorities in early 2019. Member comments are requested before the 
end of October 2018 to be incorporated into a formal Borough Council 
response to the consultation draft to be submitted to the AONB team by 
the end of November.

3 Updates and changes in the Management Plan review
3.1 The Consultation Draft of the Management Plan adopts the common 

format and structure agreed for all the reviewed AONB Management Plans 
with strategic themes for ‘Place, People and Prosperity, and 
Communication and Management.’ From these themes flow a range of 
considerations (e.g. Landscape character, Historic environment, 
Communities and culture) each with their own objectives, policies and 
priorities for action. 

3.2 Some of the issues identified for consideration within the Plan review are:

o The changes to the planning landscape with the recently revised 
National Planning Policy Framework (2018), and changes to the status 
of relevant Local Plans since 2014 (namely the Plymouth and South 
West Devon Joint Local Plan, and Cornwall Local Plan which was 
adopted in 2016), and the implications for existing and new planning 
policies for the AONB. 



o Reconciling ambitions for renewable energy installations with impact 
on the character of the AONB. 

o Neighbourhood Plans and the balance of meeting community needs 
whilst protecting landscape character from cumulative impacts of 
incremental small-scale development.

o Incorporation of learning from being a partner in the Interreg project 
‘Cordiale’, and community involvement in stimulating a wood fuel 
market consistent with the landscape protection objectives of the 
designation.

o Changing circumstances and reduced resources for implementation, 
and a degree of short-midterm uncertainty in terms of 
threats/opportunities (e.g. the ongoing national Review of Protected 
Landscapes, Brexit).     

o Interactions of AONBs with the public health and wellbeing agenda and 
the recently published 25 Year Environment Plan (2018). 

 
4 Proposed Way Forward 

4.1 Comments from Members and relevant officers (namely from the Place 
Making and Development Management CoPs) are being sought before the 
end of October. It is noted that the content of the Management Plan is 
wide ranging, and touches upon all of the Council’s Themes and Priorities 
to varying degrees. It is proposed that the CoP Lead for Place Making will 
have delegated authority to agree the final content of the formal Council 
response to the Consultation Draft of the Management Plan.

4.2 Officers will assist the TVAONB team with review of consultation responses 
as appropriate during December 2018. The final Management Plan will be 
presented to the TVAONB Executive and Partnership Committees for 
agreement in late 2018/beginning of 2019.

4.3 The final Management Plan will be presented to the Borough Council Hub 
Committee in Jan/Feb 2019 for adoption, and will follow due procedure at 
the other relevant Local Authorities, with a view to sending the new 
Management Plan to the Secretary of State in March 2019. 

5 Implications

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Section 89 of the Countryside and Rights of Way 
Act (CRoW Act, 2000) sets out the statutory 
requirement for Local Authorities to produce 
Management Plans for AONBs in their area, and to 



review adopted plans at periods of not more than 
five years

The Council (as well as other constituent Local 
Authorities – these being Cornwall Council, Devon 
County Council, and South Hams District Council) 
has delegated the authority of reviewing the 
Management Plan to the Tamar Valley AONB team. 

Financial The Council makes an annual contribution of 
£8,835 to the Tamar Valley AONB, which along 
with constituent Local Authority contributions 
amounts to 25% of the budget, a further 75% 
being provided by Defra. 

This contribution meets the cost of the core AONB 
team and their production and delivery of the 
AONB Management Plan. 

Risk Failure to publish a plan and submit to the 
Secretary of State by end of March 2019 would 
result in the Council failing to meet the statutory 
duty set out in Section 89 of the CRoW Act. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

None identified  

Safeguarding None identified

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

None identified

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

None identified

Other 
implications

None identified

Supporting Information

Appendices:

Consultation Draft of the Tamar Valley AONB Management Plan is expected to be 
available from www.tamarvalley.org.uk from 7th September. 

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/fO1nCk88LtN35Lhk3fwv?domain=tamarvalley.org.uk





	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	7 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24 - Cllr Sanders
	Appendix A – Budget pressures and savings
	Appendix B – Modelling of the MTFS Position
	Appendix C – Components of a MTFS
	Appendix D – Schedule of Reserves (Unearmarked and Earmarked)
	Appendix E – Capital Programme for 2019-20 onwards
	Appendix F – Sensitivity Analysis;
	Appendix G EXEMPT– Borrowing Advice from Treasury Management Advisers.

	8 Commercial Property Strategy Amendment - Cllr Jory
	Appendix A - Recommended Commercial Property Strategy
	Appendix B Exempt - West Devon Benchmarking Report
	Appendix C - Illustrative Borrowing Requirements for WDBC
	Appendix D – Currently Adopted Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy

	9 Quarter 1 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/2019 - Cllr Edmonds
	Appendix A - Reserves

	10 Write Off Report - Cllr Edmonds
	11 Council Tax Reduction Scheme - Cllr Leech
	Appendix 1 - Other Devon Authorities

	12 Civic Penalties for breaches of Housing Standards Enforcement Notices - Cllr Leech
	Appendix 1 - Civil Penalty Policy
	Appendix 2 - Civil Penalty Examples

	13 Tamar Valley AONB Management Plan 2019-2024 Consultation Draft - Cllr Jory
	15 IT Systems Procurement - Cllr Edmonds

